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Dear Stakeholders,

As we usher in a new year, it is with great pleasure and 
a sense of accomplishment that I extend my heartfelt 
greetings to each one of you on behalf of the Asian 
Credit Fund team. As we reflect on the past year, 2023 
has been a testament to the resilience and commitment 
that defines our Microfinance Organization.

Confronted with unprecedented challenges such as 
soaring inflation and escalated funding costs, our 
organization not only navigated through the storm but 
emerged with renewed strength and determination 
to uphold our mission of empowering communities 
through financial inclusion. The year 2023 stood out as 
a period characterized by innovation, adaptability, and 
an unwavering commitment to the core principles that 
define the Asian Credit Fund.

For the third consecutive year, our portfolio experi-
enced remarkable growth, surging by over 40%, a 
clear testament to our relentless efforts to expand the 
accessibility of financial services. In 2023, our office 
network expanded from 58 to 61 locations, amplifying 
convenience and accessibility for our valued clients. 
Our deliberate focus on outreach and penetration 
yielded tangible results, enabling us to serve a broader 
demographic and effectively advance our mission of 
fostering financial inclusion.

A noteworthy stride in 2023 was our foray into lever-
aging artificial intelligence, integrating AI elements 

into our collection processes to elevate operational 
efficiency. This strategic initiative underscores our 
unwavering commitment to embracing innovation and 
harnessing technology for sustainable growth. As we 
move forward, our organization remains dedicated to 
overcoming challenges and advancing our mission with 
resilience and a forward-looking approach.

In the year 2023, ACF made significant strides in 
fortifying corporate governance, recognizing its pivotal 
role in enhancing the overall efficiency of company 
operations. We have prioritized the improvement of 
our corporate governance system, viewing it as an 
integral component of our broader efforts. To bolster 
this framework, a sole Executive Director’s work was 
passed on the collegial Management Board whose 
establishment was complemented by the appoint-
ment of a dedicated Management Board Secretary.

Furthermore, our commitment to robust governance 
practices is evident in the reinforcement of the Super-
visory Board. This strengthening involved the addition 
of three independent members, notably contributing to 
gender diversity by appointing two accomplished wom-
en to the existing five male members.  This strategic 
move not only aligns with our values but also brings 
valuable expertise to our leadership team, enriching 
the collective skill set within the organization.
As we present our 2023 Annual Report, we invite you to 
explore the milestones, achievements, and impact we 

have collectively achieved. Our endeavors have touched the 
lives of countless individuals, and we are proud of the pos-
itive transformations that have unfolded as a result of our 

shared efforts.

In the year ahead, we are excited about the opportuni-
ties and challenges that lie before us. With a renewed 
sense of purpose, we look forward to expanding our 
reach, enhancing our services, and furthering our 
impact. Together, we will continue to be a catalyst 

for positive change and economic empower-
ment in the communities we serve.

I extend my deepest gratitude to our dedi-
cated staff, committed partners, and sup-
portive stakeholders. Your collaboration 
and unwavering support have been in-

strumental in our success. As we embark 
on this journey into 2024, let us continue to 

work hand in hand, fostering a future where 
financial inclusion paves the way for sustainable 

development and brighter tomorrows.

Thank you for your continued trust 
in the Asian Credit Fund.

Sincerely,
Zhanna Zhakupova
Chairman of the Management Board
ACF

Letter from the Chairman 
  of the Management Board

4 5



 # of # of
Branch	 offices	 	loans

12 branches 61 52,530

Akmola 1 536

Almaty Regional 6 5,326

East Kazakhstan 1 762

Karaganda 3 1,347

Kyzylorda 2 708

Saryagash  9 9,725

Semei 7 5,111

Shymkent 10 8,791

Taldykorgan 8 6,532

Taraz 7 7,652

Ulytau 1 397

Zhambyl 6 5,643

Respect for all. We act in accordance with the company’s 
ethical standards and principles and accept responsibility 
for our words and actions. We understand and accept that 
despite individual differences, we are all equal as members 
of society. 

An honest, trusted relationship with clients, employees, 
stakeholders. We build reliable and effective business part-
nerships based on mutual trust. Our company, known for its 
quality, reliability, and integrity, attracts the best employees 
and customers in rural areas and has an excellent reputation 
in the industry.

High integrity and intolerance to corruption. We create an 
atmosphere of zero tolerance for corruption among our 
employees. We build relationships based on honesty and 
integrity. 

To be the preferred microfinance lender for households and 
micro businesses in Kazakhstan in their path to resilience to 
the shocks and their well-being.  

ACF’s mission is to improve the quality of life, well-being, and 
resilience of families and businesses, primarily in rural areas, 
through fast and convenient financial services.

About the company Regional Network

License	number:	License	to	carry	out	microfinance	activities	
No.02.21.0008.M	dated	04.03.2021,	issued	by	the	Agency	of	the	Republic	of	
Kazakhstan	for	the	Regulation	and	Development	of	the	Financial	Market.

ACF Mission

ACF Vision

ACF Core Values
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Loan Portfolio (KZT, billion)

Total assets (KZT, billion) 

Number of active loans 

Number of offices

Average disbursed 
loan amount (KZT)

Customer satisfaction index

Women borrowers

Loan Portfolio in total assets

Total equity (KZT, billion) 

Number of active borrowers 

Number of employees

Business loans disbursed Customer retention rate

Rural borrowers

+43% +15%

+8%

+35%

+11%

+2%

+25%

+5%

–2%

+19%

+21%

+1%

–4% –0.3%

Since
Company 
Inception

132,506
clients received 
financing

329,299
clients’ busi-
ness projects 
financed by 
ACF

USD 319.8M
of microcredits 
disbursed 

71,980
clients received 
business and 
financial literacy 
training

KZT 13.0M
spent on charity

Key Portfolio Figures
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• Increased the ACF team from 
382 to 461 people.

• Reduced staff turnover from 
annual 23.8% to 14%.

• Expanded opportunities for all 
employees to receive online 
training to acquire soft skills 
through the Eduson.tv platform.

• Created an Instagram page 
to promote the company’s HR 
brand.

• Increased the number of clients 
by 11% to 41,840. 

• Increased loan portfolio by 
43% (compared to 36% market 
growth) to KZT 25.970 billion.  
(USD 57.0 million).

• Introduced a new business 
development product “Asset 
Based Loan” with collateral in 
the form of a vehicle.

• Increased client retention rate 
from 72%  to 73%.

• Implemented a mobile applica-
tion for loan officers to collect 
leads.

• Piloted centralized loan deci-
sion-making (underwriting). 

• Introduced artificial intelligence 
in the process of collecting 
overdue debts. 

• Implemented robotcall service 
for customer calls.

• Strengthened corporate gover-
nance by creating the Manage-
ment Board.

• Expanded the Supervisory 
Board membership from 4 to 7.

• Received a subordinated 
debt from TRIPLE JUMP 
FINANCIAL INCLUSION 
RESILIENCE FUND B.V. in the 
amount of USD 1.5 million.

• Expanded the list of financial 
partners by starting cooper-
ation with the crowdfunding 
platform KIVA.

• We have achieved all key tar-
gets for 2023. 

• We educated 1,080 clients on 
financial literacy. 

• We conducted 17 charity proj-
ects worth KZT 2.5 million.

Key Achievements
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The highly experienced ACF Supervisory Board 
provides direction to the management by setting 
ACF’s strategy and overseeing its implementa-
tion. The end goal of the Supervisory Board is to 
help ACF achieve long-term success. 

BOARD COMMITTEES: Risk Management 
Committee, Chair

CURRENT POSITION: September 2000—Present: 
CEO, Partner Microcredit Foundation, Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

EDUCATION: Pan-european University Apeiron, 
Economics

BOARD COMMITTEES: Audit Committee, Chair; 
Risk Management Committee, Member

CURRENT POSITION: 2022—Present: Regional 
CFO-Africa, VisionFund/World Vision

EDUCATION: MS, Management Science & 
Engineering, Standford University; BA, Economic & 
Finance, Università Commerciale ‘Luigi Bocconi’

BOARD COMMITTEES: Digital Financial Service 
Committee, Chair; Risk Management Committee, 
Member

CURRENT POSITION: 2013–2017—Present: 
Founder, Holland FinTech, The Netherlands; 
President, FINTECH AERA, The Netherlands; 
Co-founder, Foundation Capital Waters, The 
Netherlands

EDUCATION: MSC/Ir, Civil & Coastal Engineering, 
Technische Universiteit Delft; Business 
Administration, Erasmus University Rotterdam

Senad
SINANOVIC  
Board member  
since March 2018

Marco
DE NATALE 
Board member  
since November 2019

Don
GINSEL 
Board member  
since January 2021

Talgat
SALIKHOV 
Board member  
since January 2024

Sevara
SIRADJEVA 
Board member  
since January 2024

Jana
CHMELNIZKI 
KADIAN 
Board member  
since March 2023

Christian
ANDERSEN 
Chairperson, board member 
since September 2014

CURRENT POSITION: 2021–Present: General 
director, Management of Tengri Partners group’s 
principal investment activities, Tengri Partners 
Principal Investments LLP, Kazakhstan

EDUCATION: Master degree in Transport and 
Business Management, Imperial College London; 
Bachelor degree in Civil Engineering, The 
University of Nottingham

BOARD COMMITTEES: Digital Financial Service 
Committee, Member

CURRENT POSITION: 2022—Present: Product 
Development, EPAM Systems, USA

EDUCATION: Bachelor of Science, Business 
Computing, University of Westminster; Master of 
Business Administration, Finance, University of 
Sunderland

BOARD COMMITTEES: Digital Financial Service 
Committee, Member

CURRENT POSITION: 2023—Present: Team Lead, 
EBRD Central Asia Woman in Business Program, 
IPC, Germany; 2022—Present: Senior Advisor on 
the Advisory Board, ThitsaWorks, Singapore

EDUCATION: Masters of Arts, Economics, Berlin 
School of Economics; ABA Stonier Graduate 
School of Banking

BOARD COMMITTEES: Audit Committee and Risk 
Management Committee, Member

CURRENT POSITION: 2011–2018—Present: Co-
founder and CEO of BOPA, Singapore; Board 
Chair Alliance Microfinance, Myanmar; Board 
member  and Chair of Audit Committee in KIF, 
Timor LesteTimor

EDUCATION: MBA, IMD, General Management

Supervisory
   Board
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The Management Board of ACF is the highest 
collegial executive body of the company, and it 
is responsible for operational management and 
implementation of the strategy developed by the 
Supervisory Board. The main task of the Man-
agement Board is to manage the company’s re-
sources effectively, make operational decisions 
based on the established goals and objectives, 
and ensure its sustainable development and 
achievement of its goals in the medium and long 
term. Guided by the principles of transparency, 
efficiency, and respect for the rule of law, the 
Management Board strives to increase ACF’s 
competitiveness and strengthen its market posi-
tion to achieve sustainable financial success and 
satisfy the interests of all stakeholders

EDUCATION:  
American University of Kyrgyzstan, Business 
Administration

EXPERIENCE IN ACF:  
Has been with ACF since 2008.

Before joining ACF, worked in Kompanion Financial 
Group, commercial banks, the National Bank of 
Kyrgyzstan, and the UNIDO project (UN)

Ulan
USENOV 
Member  
Management Board 

Azat
ABDEKEYEV 
Member  
Management Board 

Zhanna 
ZHAKUPOVA 
Chairperson 
Management Board 

EDUCATION:  
Central Asian University, Finance

Kazakh National Technical University, Mechanical 
Engineer

EXPERIENCE IN ACF:  
Has been with ACF since 2019.

Before joining ACF, held several senior positions at 
BTA Bank, VTB Bank, and Sberbank, Kazakhstan

EDUCATION:  
Kazakhstan Institute of Management, Economics 
and Forecasting (KIMEP), Kazakhstan.  Master of 
Business Administration (MBA), Finance

Graduate of the Stonier Graduate School (based 
at Georgetown University) at the US Bankers 
Association, Washington, USA

EXPERIENCE IN ACF:  
Has been with ACF since 1997, since the inception 
of the Company

AWARDS:  
“Honored Financier of Kazakhstan”, “Public Order 
of Glory of Kazakhstan”.

OTHER QUALIFICATIONS:  
Member of the Board of Directors of Association of 
Microfinance Organizations, Kazakhstan (AMFOK)

Management
   Board
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The path to financial stability: 
success stories of ACF clients

Nagima Duysekbay
43	years	old
Turkestan	city,	South	Kazakhstan	Oblast

More than six years ago, a profound shift occurred in my 
life—a journey into the realm of sewing art commenced. 
It all began amidst the preparations for my daughters’ 
weddings, where I felt a deep-seated urge to imbue my 
love and care into the traditional Kazakh dowry known as 
“Kyz zhasaulary,” crafted by my own hands. What initially 
felt like a simple adherence to Kazakh customs gradually 
evolved into a profound vocation—a calling to weave 
beauty from fabric and thread, infusing each creation 
with soulful essence. 

As the years unfolded, my sewing venture flourished, 
eventually blossoming into a bustling enterprise that now 
employs six talented individuals. My creations garnered 
admiration, attracting over two hundred loyal customers 
from across Kazakhstan. Our product range expanded 
to include “Kurak korpe”—a poignant symbol of Kazakh 
heritage—a quilted blanket where families gather, shar-
ing tea and conversation against its comforting embrace.

In March 2023, I took a significant leap forward by 
applying for a microloan from ACF—a pivotal moment in 
my entrepreneurial journey. For me, partnering with ACF 
signifies more than just financial backing; it embodies the 
assurance that a company that believes in my vision and 

Asylzat Sadyrkhanova
39	years	old
Turkestan	city,	South	Kazakhstan	Oblast

Venturing into establishing a camel farm may seem 
unconventional, even surprising, particularly in a country 
like Kazakhstan, where the preference leans towards 
raising conventional livestock. Yet, this unique journey 
began six years ago when I decided to work as a milk-
maid on a camel farm.
 
Immersing myself in the world of these majestic crea-
tures, I found myself drawn to them in ways I hadn’t 
anticipated. Their unpretentious nature, resilience, and 
remarkable longevity of up to thirty years, coupled with 
their swift growth, made them ideal animals to rear. 
Moreover, the cost of maintaining camels proved to be 
on par with, if not more economical than, traditional live-
stock such as cows or horses. 
The absence of significant competition in this niche 
market compelled me to embark on my entrepreneurial 
journey. Securing my initial loan from ACF in 2021 to 

“Partnership with ACF is not just financial assistance, but also 
a feeling that I have a partner that believes in my ideas and is 

ready to support me in their realization.”

stands ready to champion its realization exists. Within a 
mere year of collaboration with ACF, my equity surged 
by 2.5 times—a testament to the transformative power of 
strategic support. 
 
Driven by a desire to diversify, I ventured into the realm 
of education. In August 2023, I inaugurated a sewing 
school in Shymkent. In this educational sanctuary, young 
minds aged 5 to 17 can cultivate their creative aptitude, 
honing an appreciation for intricacies and crafting won-
ders with their own hands. Presently, 150 budding talents 
grace our halls, each a source of immense pride. 
 
Yet, my dreams still need to be fulfilled. I envision offer-
ing dombra lessons, mathematics tutorials, and English 
classes, equipping children not only as adept artisans 
but also as globally conscious citizens. Atop my aspira-
tions stands the vision of a grand emporium in Turkestan 
showcasing a plethora of my creations, where every 
patron finds a piece that resonates with their soul. With 
ACF’s constant support, I am confident my aspirations 
will burgeon into tangible realities. 

procure camel feed marked the first step toward real-
izing my vision. Subsequent loans facilitated not only 
the expansion of my herd from three to thirty heads but 
also boosted the equity of my business by a staggering 
fivefold.
 
So, what exactly does camel breeding entail in terms 
of returns? Primarily, I capitalize on the sale of camel 
milk and shubat—a fermented milk product derived from 
camel milk. While nearly identical to cow’s milk in taste 
and appearance, camel milk boasts a wealth of vitamin 
C and other essential minerals renowned for bolstering 
immunity and combatting various ailments. Additionally, 
there’s a market for camel meat, with an adult camel 
capable of attaining weights of up to 500 kilograms—a 
substantial yield for meat production. 
When prepared meticulously, camel meat emerges as 
a sought-after delicacy, particularly in culinary estab-
lishments. Furthermore, camel wool finds its niche in 
high-quality clothing, cherished for its naturalness and 
eco-friendliness.
 
Proudly standing at the helm of my enterprise, I deeply 
value the partnership with ACF. Their provision of favor-
able loan terms aimed at supporting small and medi-
um-sized businesses, as well as agriculture, has been 
instrumental in fueling the growth of my beloved venture. 
Thanks to ACF financing, I can nurture and expand my 
business, a labor of love that fills me with pride and 
fulfillment.

Success Stories

“Livestock breeding
is a profitable investment”
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Saniyam Khebullaeva
53	years	old
Kyzyl-sharyk	village,	Almaty	region

In our cozy village, no celebration or gathering is 
complete without the aroma of my freshly baked goods 
wafting through the air. 

Over time, my bakery has become an integral part 
of our community life, earning a special place in the 
hearts of locals—a source of immense pride for me.
 
The journey towards establishing my own business 
began five years ago, sparked by the increasing demand 
for traditional baked delights from close family, friends, 
and neighbors. Initially crafting these treats in the 
confines of my kitchen at home, the overwhelming joy 
and satisfaction of my customers propelled me forward. 
Their enthusiastic recommendations spread like wildfire, 
igniting a surge in popularity for my products. 
 
Today, a fully-fledged bakery stands proudly adjacent to 
my home—a testament to the growth and evolution of 
my humble beginnings. The assortment of offerings has 
expanded significantly, now encompassing a delectable 
array of pastries alongside frozen semi-finished products 
such as dumplings, manty, pies, samosas, and beyond. 
Moreover, I gladly cater to various events not only within 
our village but also in neighboring communities.
 
In 2023, I took a decisive step forward by applying for a 
microloan from ACF, seeking KZT 2.0 million  to procure 
essential equipment for my bakery. I aimed to enhance 

Gaukhar Sabyr
40	years	old	
Korday	village,	Zhambyl	region

I am a happy woman, blessed with four children, and 
although I am the wife of a successful entrepreneur, 
my spirit strives for more than just being a stay-at-
home wife. Driven by an insatiable hunger for personal 
achievement, I aspire to be a beacon of determination 
and hard work, demonstrating to my children that 
resilience can conquer any obstacle.
 
At the age of 29, I seized control of my destiny. 
Mastering the art of manicure, I boldly stepped into 
a beauty salon, defying the apprehensions of my 
husband who opposed my employment. For two years, 
I honed my craft in the salon, accumulating invaluable 
experience. In 2015, fueled by ambition, I turned to 
ACF and secured my inaugural loan of KZT 700,000. 
With this financial boost, I leased a central space in the 
village, procured essential equipment, and commenced 
my journey of creation.
 
 
For four years, I toiled single-handedly, relying solely on 
word-of-mouth referrals to sustain my clientele. Yet, in 
2019, encouraged by my success, I resolved to expand. 
Engaging two employees, I sought further support 
from ACF, securing a microloan of KZT 1.0 to augment 
my salon. Today, I stand proud as proprietor of one of 
Korday’s premier salons, renowned for its aesthetic 
finesse and exclusive service—a sanctuary where every 
moment resonates with the joy of satisfied clients.
 

the production capacity of my modest establishment. 
Yet, overarching this objective is my fervent dream to 
establish a chain of bakery outlets, solidifying my brand 
as the foremost choice across the region. 
 
I extend heartfelt gratitude to ACF for their financial 
support, which serves as a vital catalyst in realizing my 
ambitious aspirations. In turn, I also extend my gratitude 
to the local residents whose unwavering loyalty and 
trust fuel the continued success of the bakery. With their 
steadfast support, I remain committed to delivering fresh, 
delectable treats and vow to spare no effort in nurturing 
the growth and prosperity of my business.

Determined to remain at the vanguard of manicure 
trends, I have diligently pursued annual refresher 
courses since 2018. These endeavors keep me abreast 
of evolving techniques and grant me the privilege to 
teach. Today, I share the secrets of manicuring with 
eager learners, empowering them with the skills to excel 
in this art form. 

My work is my passion, and I am glad I decided to take 
this vital step one day. I have a lot of plans for the future: 
I dream about my own building for the salon, a network 
of salons in other cities, buying a car, and much more. 
But the most important thing for me is the support of my 
husband, who now admires my success and supports 
me in everything. I sincerely thank ACF for the financial 
support, which was an important catalyst for the 
realization of my dreams.

“I produce environmentally friendly products, 
and this formula of success has been proven by time” 

“My freedom of choice: the story of my success 
and my path to financial independence”
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

Financial  statements
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Statement of management’s responsi-
bilities for the preparation and approval 
of the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2023

Zhakupova Zh. B.
Chairman	of	the	Board

Zhumakhanova T. N.
Chief	Accountant

12	April	2024.	Almaty,	the	Republic	of	Kazakhstan	

Management is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements, of Microf-
inance organization Asian Credit Fund LLC (hereinaf-
ter—the “Company”) as at 31 December 2023 and for 
the year ended 31 December 2023 in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinaf-
ter—“IFRSs”).

In preparing the financial statements management is 
responsible for:

• selecting of proper accounting principles and its 
consistent application;

• presenting information, including accounting 
policies, in a manner that provides relevance, 
reliability, comparability and understandability of 
such information; 

• using of reasonable and appropriate estimates 
and assumptions;

• providing additional disclosures when compliance 
with the requirements of IFRS is insufficient for 
users of the financial statements to understand 
the impact of particular transactions, as well as 

other events and conditions on the financial position 
and financial results of the Company’s operation; and

• assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in the foreseeable future. 

Management is also responsible for:
• designing, implementing and maintaining the effective 

and reliable functionality of the internal control system;
• maintaining adequate accounting system which allows 

the preparation of information about the Company fi-
nancial position at any time with reasonable accuracy, 
and to ensure compliance of the financial statements 
with IFRSs;

• maintaining accounting records in accordance with the 
legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan;

• adopting measures within its competence to safeguard 
assets of the Company; and

• detecting and preventing fraud and other irregularities.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2023 were approved by the management of the Company 
on 12 April 2024. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Participants and Supervisory Board of Microfinance organization 
Asian Credit Fund LLC

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Microfinance organization Asian Credit Fund 
LLC (hereinafter—“the Company”), which comprise the statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2023, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy infor-
mation.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter—“IFRSs”).

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (here-
inafter—“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s	Responsibilities	for	the	Audit	of	the	Financial	Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical require-
ments that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Republic of 
Kazakhstan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the 
information included in the Company’s 2023 Annual Report, other than the financial state-
ments and our auditor’s report thereon. The Company’s 2023 Annual Report is expected 
to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, upon reading the Annual Report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement, we 
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with 
governance for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management de-
termines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Com-
pany’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alterna-
tive but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing financial reporting pro-
cess of Microfinance organization Asian Credit Fund LLC.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and main-
tain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

Evgeny Zhemaletdinov
Engagement	partner
Certified	Auditor	of	the	Republic	of	Kazakhstan
Certificate	No.MF-00000553	on	20	December	2003

Yerzhan Dossymbekov
General	Director
Grant	Thornton	LLP

State	license	for	providing	audit	services	on	the	territory	of	the	
Republic	of	Kazakhstan	No.18015053,	issued	by	the	Internal	State	
Audit	Committee	of	the	Ministry	of	Finance	of	the	Republic	of	
Kazakhstan	dated	3	August	2018.

12	April	2024.	Almaty,	the	Republic	of	Kazakhstan

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncer-
tainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the under-
lying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during audit of Microfinance organization Asian 
Credit Fund LLC.
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Zhakupova Zh. B.
Chairman	of	the	Board

Zhumakhanova T. N.
Chief	Accountant

12	April	2024.	Almaty,	the	Republic	of	Kazakhstan

In thousands of tenge Notes
31 Dec.

2023
31 Dec.

2022
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,187,053  4,803,025 
Amounts due from credit institutions 7 4,330,305  1,802,779 
Loans to customers 8 25,012,912  17,558,838 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 9 1,450,768  2,037,242 
Property and equipment 10 276,159  159,033 
Right-of-use assets 11 126,359  78,016 
Intangible assets 12 271,957  126,329 
Corporate income tax assets 12,433 —
Other assets 13 114,806  63,500 
TOTAL ASSETS 32,782,752  26,628,762 
EQUITY
Charter capital 14 553,797 553,797 
Retained earnings 3,484,783  2,837,172 
TOTAL EQUITY 4,038,580  3,390,969 
LIABILITIES
Amounts due to credit institutions 15 25,790,775  20,339,296
Subordinated debt 16 1,405,534  707,330 
Repurchase agreements 17 1,153,482  1,956,510 
Lease liabilities 11 134,391  89,085 
Current corporate income tax liabilities —  2,538 
Deferred corporate income tax liabilities 18 16,606  8,266 
Other liabilities 13 243,384  134,768 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 28,744,172  23,237,793 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 32,782,752  26,628,762 

Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2023

Accompanying notes on pages 30 to 71 are an integral part of these financial statements.

In thousands of tenge Notes 2023 2022
Interest income 19 9,266,919  6,463,713 
Interest expense 19 (4,542,066) (2,825,452)
Net interest income before expected credit loss expense 4,724,853  3,638,261 

Expected credit loss expense 20 (682,188)  (510,623)
Net interest income 4,042,665  3,127,638 

Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 21 12,224  (106,666)
Net loss from foreign exchange operations (105,345)  (53,910)

dealing (89,674)  (24,695)
translation differences (15,671)  (29,215)

Operating expenses 22 (2,948,961)  (2,173,113)
Other income 44,533  14,103 
Other expenses (8,000)  (3,409)
Income before corporate income tax expense 1,037,116  804,643 

Corporate income tax expense 18 (199,862)  (172,509)
Net income 837,254  632,134 

Other comprehensive income — —
Total comprehensive income for the year 837,254  632,134 

Statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Accompanying notes on pages 30 to 71 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2023

In thousands of tenge Notes 2023 2022
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income before corporate income tax expense 1,037,116  804,643 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization  
of intangible assets and right-of-use assets 10,11,12 204,240  139,307 

Interest income 19 (9,266,919)  (6,463,713)
Interest expense 19 4,542,066  2,825,452 
Provision charge for expected credit losses 20 682,188  510,623 
Accrued expenses on unused vacations and other payroll accruals 26,281  9,748 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 15,671  29,215 
Net (gain)/ loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 21 (12,224)  106,666 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 13,345  1,104 
Other (income)/ expenses (23,076)  12,512 
Cash outflow from operating activities before changes in working capital (2,781,312)  (2,024,443)
(Increase) / decrease in operating assets:
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 576,972  (1,917,792)
Loans to customers (7,860,813)  (5,616,809)
Amounts due from credit institutions (2,514,011)  (1,795,044)
Other assets (36,131)  (7,748)
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Loans from repurchase agreements (1,013,619)  1,952,155 
Other liabilities 95,338  (1,050)
Cash used in operating activities (13,533,576)  (9,410,731)
Interest received 8,988,368  6,253,668 
Interest paid (4,089,207)  (2,698,367)
Corporate income tax paid (206,493)  (172,821)
Net cash used in operating activities (8,840,908)  (6,028,251)

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2023

In thousands of tenge Note Charter capital Retained earnings Total Equity
As at 31 December 2021  553,797  2,205,038  2,758,835 
Net income for the year —  632,134  632,134 
Other comprehensive income — — —
Total comprehensive income — 632,134 632,134
As at 31 December 2022  553,797  2,837,172  3,390,969 
Net income for the year — 837,254 837,254
Other comprehensive income — — —
Dividends declared 14 — (189,643) (189,643)
Total comprehensive income — 647,611 647,611
As at 31 December 2023  553,797 3,484,783 4,038,580

Statement of cash flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

In thousands of tenge Notes 2023 2022
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment 10 (165,947)  (49,068)
Purchase of intangible assets 12 (182,722)  (14,008)
Net cash used in investing activities (348,669)  (63,076)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from amounts due to credit institutions 15 13,347,408  13,322,674 
Proceeds from amounts of subordinated debt 16 688,125  702,840 
Repayment of amounts due to credit institutions 15 (8,134,398)  (4,665,774)
Lease payments (133,613)  (92,521)
Dividends paid 14 (189,643) —
Net cash generated from financing activities 5,577,879  9,267,219 
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (3,611,698) 3,175,892 
Effect of expected credit losses on cash and cash equivalents (2,592)  (3,275)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,682)  (38,351)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 6 4,803,025  1,668,759 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6 1,187,053  4,803,025 

Accompanying notes on pages 30 to 71 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. General information

Microfinance organization “Asian Credit Fund” Limited 
Liability Company (hereinafter—the “Company”) was 
registered on 27 October 2005, and is carrying out its 
activities in the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan. On 
29 December 2014, the Company was re-registered in con-
nection with the decision of its participants on changing the 
name of the Company from Microcredit organization “Asian 
Credit Fund” Limited Liability Company to Microfinance 
organization “Asian Credit Fund” Limited Liability Company 
as per requirement of the Law of Republic of Kazakhstan 
on Microfinance Organizations. The Company’s activi-
ties are supervised and regulated by the Agency of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan for Regulation and Development of 
Financial Market (hereinafter—the “Agency”).

The Company’s principal activity is granting micro loans to 
customers. As at 31 December 2023, the Company had 11 
branches and 61 outlets in the Republic of Kazakhstan (as 
at 31 December 2022: 11 branches and 58 outlets). 

The Company’s participants are BOPA Pte LTD with 
98.32% share and Karavella Invest LLP with 1.68% share. 
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 participatory shares in 
BOPA Pte LTD are distributed as follows:

Name

Share, %
31 Dec. 

2023 
31 Dec.

 2022 
The Investment Fund  
for Developing Countries 30.31% 30.31%

Finnish Fund Industrial Cooperation LTD 25.87% 25.87%
Selfinvest APS 17.33% 17.33%
Other participants owning less than 8% each 26.49% 26.49%

100.00% 100.00%

The Company’s head office is located at 60 Auezov Str., 
Almaty, the Republic of Kazakhstan.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has 477  
employees (31 December 2022: 382 employees).

2. Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(hereinafter—“IFRSs”).

The financial statements are presented in thousands of 
tenge, unless otherwise indicated.

Going concern
These financial statements have been prepared assuming 
that the Company is a going concern and will continue its 
operation for the foreseeable future.

Management believes that the Company is able to gener-
ate sufficient funds to meet its liabilities. The management 
of the Company does not have any intention or necessity to 
liquidate or significantly reduce the size of its business.

Accrual basis
These financial statements were prepared on the accrual 
basis. The accrual basis assumes recognition of the results 
of business operations, as well as events when they oc-
curred, regardless of the time of payment. Transactions and 
events are recorded in the accounting and included in the 
financial statements for the periods, which they relate to. 

Functional currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured 
using the currency of the primary of the economic envi-
ronment in which the Company operates (“the functional 
currency”). The functional currency and presentation 
currency of the financial statements of the Company is 
the Kazakhstani tenge (“tenge”).

These financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for certain properties and 
financial instruments.

Exchange rates on Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (here-

inafter—“KASE”) for the foreign currencies, used by the 
Company during preparation of the financial statements 
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, were as follows:

31 Dec. 
2023 

31 Dec.
 2022 

Exchange rates at the end of the year
Tenge/1 US dollar 454.56 462.65
Tenge/1 euro 502.24 492.86

3. Summary of material accounting policies

Financial assets and liabilities
Initial recognition
Date of recognition. All regular way purchases and 
sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognised on 
the trade date i.e. the date that the Company commits to 
purchase the asset or liability. Regular way purchases 
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets and 
liabilities that require delivery of assets and liabilities 
within the period generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

Initial measurement 
The classification of financial instruments at initial 
recognition depends on their contractual terms and the 
business model for managing the instruments. Financial 
instruments are initially measured at their fair value and, 
except in the case of financial assets and financial liabil-
ities recorded at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), 
transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this 
amount. 

Measurement categories of financial assets and lia-
bilities. The Company classifies all of its financial assets 
based on the business model for managing the assets 
and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either:

• Amortised cost;
• Fair value through other comprehensive income 

(hereinafter—“FVOCI”);
• FVPL.

The Company classifies and measures its derivative and 
trading portfolio at FVPL. The Company may designate 
financial instruments at FVPL, if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces measurement or recognition incon-
sistencies.

Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and 
financial guarantees, are measured at amortised cost or 
at FVPL when they are held for trading, are derivative 
instruments or the fair value designation is applied.

Loans to customers at amortised cost. The Company 
only measures loans to customers and other financial 
investments at amortised cost if both of the following 
conditions are met:

• The financial asset is held within a business model 
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows;

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give 
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding (SPPI).

The	details	of	these	conditions	are	outlined	below.

Business model assessment. The Company deter-
mines its business model at the level that best reflects 
how it manages groups of financial assets to achieve its 
business objective.

The Company’s business model is not assessed on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level 
of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable 
factors such as: 

• How the performance of the business model and 
the financial assets held within that business model 
are evaluated and reported to the entity’s key man-
agement personnel;

• The risks that affect the performance of the busi-
ness model (and the financial assets held within 
that business model) and, in particular, the way 
those risks are managed;
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• How managers of the business are compensated 
(for example, whether the compensation is based 
on the fair value of the assets managed or on the 
contractual cash flows collected);

• The expected frequency, value and timing of sales 
are also important aspects of the Company’s as-
sessment.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably 
expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or ‘stress 
case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial 
recognition are realised in a way that is different from 
the Company’s original expectations, the Company does 
not change the classification of the remaining financial 
assets held in that business model but incorporates such 
information when assessing newly originated or newly 
purchased financial assets going forward.

The SPPI test. As a second step of its classification 
process the Company assesses the contractual terms of 
financial asset to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair 
value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may 
change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if 
there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the 
premium/discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending 
arrangement are typically the consideration for the time 
value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assess-
ment, the Company applies judgement and considers 
relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial 
asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest 
rate is set.

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities
The Company does not reclassify its financial assets 
subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the 
exceptional circumstances in which the Company changes 
the business model for managing financial assets. The 

Company did not reclassify any of its financial assets and 
liabilities in 2023.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cur-
rent accounts, and amounts due from credit institutions 
that mature within 90 days of the date of origination and 
are free from contractual encumbrances.

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements
Sale and repurchase agreements (“repos”) are treated 
as secured financing transactions. Securities sold under 
sale and repurchase agreements are retained in the 
statement of financial position and, in case the transfer-
ee has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge 
them, reclassified as securities pledged under sale and 
repurchase agreements. The corresponding liability is 
presented within amounts due to credit institutions or 
customers. Securities purchased under agreements 
to resell (“reverse repo”) are recorded within cash and 
cash equivalents or amounts due from credit institutions 
or loans to customers as appropriate. The difference 
between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest 
income and accrued over the life of repo agreements 
using the effective interest method. 

Securities lent to counterparties are retained in the 
statement of financial position. Securities borrowed 
are not recorded in the statement of financial position, 
unless these are sold to third parties. In this case the 
purchase and sale are recorded within gains less losses 
from trading securities in the statement of profit or loss. 
The obligation to return them is recorded at fair value as 
a trading liability.

Borrowings
Issued financial instruments or their components are 
classified as liabilities, where the substance of the con-
tractual arrangement results in the Company having an 
obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset 
to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the 

exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 
asset for a fixed number of own equity instruments. Such 
instruments include amounts due to credit institutions. 
After initial recognition, borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the borrowings are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process.

Leases
Company as a lessee 
The Company applies a single recognition and mea-
surement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company 
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the 
underlying assets. 

Right-of-use assets. The Company recognises right-of-
use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., 
the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumu-
lated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted 
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of 
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabil-
ities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date 
less any lease incentives received. Unless the Company 
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased 
asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease 
term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities. At the commencement date of the 
lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities mea-
sured at the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed 
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less 
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expect-

ed to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease 
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Com-
pany and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, 
if the lease term reflects the Company exercising the 
option to terminate. The variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as 
expense in the period on which the event or condition 
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the 
Company uses the incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date if the interest rate implic-
it in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying 
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the 
in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the 
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 
The Company applies the short-term lease recognition 
exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the 
commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets 
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that 
are considered of low value (i.e., below 2,100 thousand 
tenge). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The right of set-off must not be contin-
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gent on a future event and must be legally enforceable in 
all of the following circumstances:

• The normal course of business;
• The event of default; and
• The event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity 

and all of the counterparties. 

These conditions are not generally met in master netting 
agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are 
presented gross in the statement of financial position.

Renegotiated loans
The Company will seek to restructure loans in cases where 
a borrower is unable to adhere to an agreed repayment 
schedule due to objective changes in circumstances, but 
the Company deems that the borrower is able to repay the 
loan in full with a modified repayment schedule. Restructur-
ing may involve extending the payment arrangements and 
the agreement of new loan conditions. 

The Company derecognises a financial asset, such as 
a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions 
have been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it 
becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as a 
derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment 
loss has not already been recorded. The newly recognised 
loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement 
purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to be purchased 
or originated credit-impaired (POCI).

When assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan to 
a customer, amongst others, the Company considers the 
following factors:

• Change in currency of the loan;
• Change in counterparty;
• If the modification is such that the instrument would 

no longer meet the SPPI criterion.

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are 
substantially different, the modification does not result 
in derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows 

discounted at the original effective interest rate, the 
Company records a modification gain or loss, presented 
within interest revenue calculated using effective interest 
rate in the statement of profit or loss and other compre-
hensive income, to the extent that an impairment loss 
has not already been recorded.

For modifications not resulting in derecognition, the 
Company also reassesses whether here has been a 
significant increase in credit risk or whether the assets 
should be classified as credit-impaired. Once an asset 
has been classified as credit-impaired as the result of 
modification, it will remain in Stage 3 for a minimum 
6-month probation period. In order for the restructured 
loan to be reclassified out of Stage 3, regular payments 
of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest 
have been made during at least half of the probation period 
in accordance with the modified payment schedule.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a finan-
cial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised where:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired;

• The Company has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset, or retained the right to 
receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed 
an obligation to pay them in full without material de-
lay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrange-
ment; and

• The Company either (a) has transferred substantial-
ly all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 

the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset 
is recognised to the extent of the Company’s continuing 
involvement in the asset. 

Write-off. Financial assets are written off either partially 
or in their entirety only when the Company has stopped 
pursuing the recovery. If the amount to be written off 
is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the 
difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance 
that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. 
Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss 
expense. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by anoth-
er from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
a derecognition of the original liability and the recogni-
tion of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Taxation
Current corporate income tax (herinafter—“CIT”) ex-
pense is calculated in accordance with the tax legislation 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The Republic of Kazakhstan currently has a single 
Tax Code that regulates main taxation matters. The 
existing taxes include value added tax, corporate 
income tax, social and other taxes. Implementation of 
these regulations is often unclear or non existent and 
only an insignificant number of precedents have been 
established. Often, differing opinions regarding legal 
interpretation exist both among and within government 
ministries and organisations; thus creating uncertain-
ties and areas of conflict. Tax declarations, together 
with other legal compliance areas (as examples, 

customs and currency control matters) are subject to 
review and investigation by a number of authorities, 
which are enabled by law to impose severe fines, pen-
alties and forfeits. These facts create tax risks in the 
Republic of Kazakhstan substantially more significant 
than typically found in countries with more developed 
tax systems.

Management believes that the Company is in compli-
ance with the tax laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan 
regulating its operations. However, the risk remains that 
relevant authorities could take differing positions with 
regard to interpretive tax issues.

Deferred corporate income tax
Deferred CIT assets and liabilities are calculated in 
respect of all temporary differences using the liability 
method. Deferred CIT are provided for all temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying values for financial 
reporting purposes, except where the deferred corpo-
rate income tax arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss.

A deferred corporate income tax asset is recorded only 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differ-
ences can be utilised. Deferred CIT assets and liabilities 
are measured at tax rates that are expected to apply to 
the period when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

The Republic of Kazakhstan also has various operating 
taxes that are assessed on the Company’s activities. 
These taxes are recorded in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income within operating 
expenses.
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Property and equipment
Property and equipment carried at cost, excluding the 
costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depre-
ciation and any accumulated impairment. Such cost 
includes the cost of replacing part of equipment when 
that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

Carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for 
use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis 
over the following estimated useful lives:

Categories of property and equipment Useful life
Computer hardware 2.5–10 years
Vehicles 5–10 years
Office furniture and equipment 2–10 years

Asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods are 
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial 
year-end. 

Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when 
incurred and included in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income within Operating ex-
penses, unless they qualify for capitalisation.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets include computer software and are 
initially measured at cost.

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on 
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is fair value as at the 
date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intan-
gible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the 
useful economic lives from 1 to 10 years and assessed 

for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of 
obligation can be made.

Deductions from employee benefits
In 2023, the Company pays social tax to the budget of the 
Republic of Kazakhstan in accordance with the tax legis-
lation of the Republic of Kazakhstan at a flat rate of 9.5% 
of wages and other employee benefits, including material 
benefits (2022: 9.5%). Part of the social tax amount in the 
amount of 3.5% is transferred to the NJSC State Corpora-
tion “Government for Citizens” (2022: 3.5%).

In 2023, the Company pays mandatory social health 
insurance contributions in the amount of 3% of wages 
and other employee benefits, including material benefits 
(2022: 3%). 

The Company withholds mandatory pension contribu-
tions in the amount of 10% of the salaries of its employ-
ees in 2023 as contributions to the Unified Accumulative 
Pension Fund JSC and also withholds personal income 
tax at a flat rate up to 10% from salaries and other em-
ployee benefits, including material benefits.

Charter capital
Charter capital is classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of additional charter 
capital are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of 
any tax effects.

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement 
of financial position but are disclosed unless the possi-

bility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent 
asset is not recognised in the statement of financial posi-
tion but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is 
almost certain.

Recognition of income and expenses 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and 
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised:

Interest and similar income and expense
The Company calculates interest income on debt 
financial assets measured at amortised cost or at 
FVOCI by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of financial assets other than 
credit-impaired assets. Effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appro-
priate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability. The calculation takes into account 
all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for 
example, prepayment options) and includes any fees 
or incremental costs that are directly attributable to 
the instrument and are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, but not future credit losses. The carry-
ing amount of the financial asset or financial liability 
is adjusted if the Company revises its estimates of 
payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount 
is calculated based on the original effective interest 
rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as 
interest income or expense. 

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired, the 
Company calculates interest income by applying the 
effective interest rate to the net amortised cost of the 
financial asset. If the financial assets cures and is no lon-
ger credit-impaired, the Company reverts to calculating 
interest income on a gross basis.

For POCI financial assets, the Company calculates in-
terest income by calculating the credit-adjusted effective 
interest rate and applying that rate to the amortised cost 
of the asset. The credit-adjusted effective interest rate 
is the interest rate that, at original recognition, discounts 
the estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) 
to the amortised cost of the POCI assets. 

Interest income on all financial assets at FVPL is 
recognised using the contractual interest rate in “Inter-
est income” in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

Foreign currency translation
The financial statements are presented in tenge, which 
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in 
the functional currency at the official exchange rate es-
tablished by the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (hereinafter 
− the “KASE”) and communicated by the National Bank of 
the Republic of Kazakhstan (hereinafter—the “NBRK”), at 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting 
date. Gains and losses resulting from the translation of 
foreign currency transactions are recognised in the state-
ment of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as 
net gains/(losses) from transactions in foreign currencies. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translat-
ed using the official exchange rates at the date when the fair 
value was determined. Differences between the contractual 
exchange rate of a transaction in a foreign currency and the 
official exchange rate on the date of the transaction are includ-
ed in net losses from foreign currencies.

Judgements 
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies, management has made the following judge-
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ments, apart from those involving estimates, which have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements:

Determining the lease term of contracts  
with renewal options
The Company determines the lease term as the 
non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is 
reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods cov-
ered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reason-
ably certain not to be exercised.

The Company has the option, under some of its leases 
to lease the assets for additional terms of three to five 
years. The Company applies judgement in evaluating 
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to 
renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create 
an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. 
After the commencement date, the Company reassess-
es the lease term if there is a significant event or change 
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its 
ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew 
(e.g., a change in business strategy).

4. Material accounting judgements and 
estimates 

Estimation uncertainty
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies, management has used its judgements and 
made estimates in determining the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements. The most significant use of 
judgements and estimates are as follows:

Leases—estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental bor-
rowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is 
the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay 

to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, 
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value 
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environ-
ment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company 
‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no 
observable rates are available or when they need to be 
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. 
The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs 
(such as market interest rates) when available and is 
required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded in the statement of financial posi-
tion cannot be derived from active markets, they are 
determined using a variety of valuation techniques that 
include the use of mathematical models. The input to 
these models is taken from observable markets where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair values. Addi-
tional details are provided in Note	24.

Expected credit losses on financial assets
The measurement of expected credit losses across all 
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in 
particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of 
future cash flows and collateral values when determining 
expected credit losses and the assessment of a signifi-
cant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven 
by a number of factors, changes in which can result in 
different levels of allowances. In addition, large-scale 
business disruptions may give rise to liquidity issues 
for some entities and consumers. The Company’s ECL 
calculations are outputs of complex models with a num-
ber of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of 
variable inputs and their interdependencies. 

Elements of the ECL models that are considered ac-
counting judgements and estimates include:

• The Company’s criteria for assessing if there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk and so 

allowances for financial assets should be measured 
on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assess-ment;

• The segmentation of financial assets when their 
ECL is assessed on a collective basis;

• Development of ECL models, including the various 
formulae and the choice of inputs;

• Determination of associations between macroeco-
nomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as 
GDP and the effect on PDs;

• Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic sce-
narios and their probability weightings to derive the 
economic inputs into the ECL models.

More	details	are	provided	in	Notes	8	and	25.

5. Adoption of new and revised 
international financial reporting standards

Standards and Interpretations 
adopted this year
The Company adopted the following new and revised 
standards during the reporting year, which became 
effective on 1 January 2023:

• IFRS 17—Insurance	Contracts;
• Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice State-

ment 2—Disclosure	of	Accounting	Policies;
• Amendments to IAS 8—Definition	of	Accounting	

Estimates;
• Amendment to IAS 12—Deferred	Tax	related	to	

Assets	and	Liabilities	arising	from	a	Single	Trans-
action;

• Amendment to IAS 12—International	Tax	Reform—
Pillar	II	Model	Rules.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of the financial statement are consistent with those 
followed in the preparation of the Company’s financial 
statement for the year ended 31 December 2022, ex-
cept for newly adopted standards and interpretations 
effective 1 January 2023. 

The Company has not early adopted standards, interpre-
tations or amendments that have been issued but are not 
yet effective.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts is a comprehensive new 
accounting standard for insurance contracts covering 
recognition and measurement, presentation and dis-
closure. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. 
IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., 
life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regard-
less of the type of entities that issue them as well as to 
certain guarantees and financial instruments with dis-
cretionary participation features; a few scope exceptions 
will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide a 
comprehensive accounting model for insurance con-
tracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers, 
covering all relevant accounting aspects. IFRS 17 is 
based on a general model, supplemented by:

• A specific adaptation for contracts with direct partic-
ipation features (the variable fee approach). 

• A simplified approach (the premium allocation ap-
proach) mainly for short-duration contracts.

The management believes that this standard is not appli-
cable to the Company.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies— 
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
The amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice State-
ment 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide 
guidance and examples to help entities apply mate-
riality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. 
The amendments aim to help entities provide ac-
counting policy disclosures that are more useful by 
replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their 
‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to 
disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and adding 
guidance on how entities apply the concept of ma-
teriality in making decisions about accounting policy 
disclosures. 
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The amendments had no impact on the Company’s 
financial statements since there were no changes in 
accounting policies.

Definition of Accounting Estimates— 
Amendments to IAS 8
The amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between 
changes in accounting estimates, changes in accounting 
policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify 
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to 
develop accounting estimates. 

The amendments had no impact on the Company’s 
financial statements since there were no changes in 
accounting estimates or policies. 

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction—Amendments to IAS 12
The amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax narrow the 
scope of the initial recognition exception, so that it no 
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences such as 
leases and decommissioning liabilities. 

The amendments had no impact on the Company’s 
financial statements.

International Tax Reform—Pillar Two Model Rules—
Amendments to IAS 12
The amendments to IAS 12 have been introduced in re-
sponse to the OECD’s BEPS Pillar Two rules and include:

• A mandatory temporary exception to the recognition 
and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the 
jurisdictional implementation of the Pillar Two model 
rules; and 

• Disclosure requirements for affected entities to help 
users of the financial statements better un-derstand 
an entity’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes 
arising from that legislation, particularly before its 
effective date.

The mandatory temporary exception—the use of which 
is required to be disclosed—applies immediately. The 
remaining disclosure requirements apply for annual re-
porting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 

The amendments had no impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 

New and revised IFRS— 
issued but not yet effective
The Company did not adopt the following new standards, 
amendments and clarifications that have been issued but 
are not yet effective:

• Amendments to IAS 1—Classification	of	Liabilities	
as	Current	or	Non-current;

• Amendments to IFRS 16—Lease	Liability	in	a	Sale	
and	Leaseback;

• Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7—Supplier	Fi-
nance	Arrangements.

Amendments to IFRS 16:  
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
In September 2022, the IASB issued amendments to 
IFRS 16 to specify the requirements that a seller-lessee 
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and 
leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does 
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates 
to the right of use it retains. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and must 
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transac-
tions entered into after the date of initial application of 
IFRS 16. Earlier application is permitted and that fact 
must be disclosed. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1:  
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
In January 2020 and October 2022, the IASB issued 
amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify 
the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or 
non-current. The amendments clarify: 

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement;
• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the 

reporting period;
• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood 

that an entity will exercise its deferral right;
• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible 

liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms 
of a liability not impact its classification.

In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require 
disclosure when a liability arising from a loan agreement 
is classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer 
settlement is contingent on compliance with future cove-
nants within twelve months. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and must 
be applied retrospectively. The Company is currently 
assessing the impact the amendments will have on cur-
rent classification of liabilities and the need to revise the 
terms of existing loan agreements.

Supplier Finance Arrangements— 
Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7
In May 2023, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7 
Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial In-
struments: Disclosures to clarify the characteristics of 
supplier finance arrangements and require addition-
al disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure 
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist 
users of financial statements in understanding the effects 
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, 
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. 

The amendments will be effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Early 
adoption is permitted but will need to be disclosed. The 
amendments are not expected to have a material impact 
on the Company’s financial statements.
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6. Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, cash and cash 
equivalents are presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Current accounts in Kazakhstani banks 583,520  3,983,184 
Time deposits with banks up to 90 days 507,139  478 
Cash on brokerage accounts 96,598  247,922 
Reverse repurchase agreements  
up to 90 days —  575,313 

Cash on hand 731  165 
1,187,988  4,807,062 

Less: allowance for expected  
credit losses (935)  (4,037)

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,187,053  4,803,025 

As at 31 December 2022, the Company entered into re-
verse repurchase agreements at the KASE. The subject 
of these agreements are government securities of the 
Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan and 
debt securities of Kazakhstan Sustainability Fund JSC, 
the fair value of which as at 31 December 2022 was 
553,914 thousand tenge.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all cash and cash 
equivalents were classified to the stage 1. During 2023 
and 2022, there were no transfers between the stages.

The movement of allowance for expected credit losses 
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is 
presented as follows:
In thousands of tenge 2023 2022
Provision at the beginning of the year (4,037)  (762)
Accrual of provision (2,592)  (3,275)
Reclassification of provision (Note 7) 5,694 —
Provision at the end of the year (935)  (4,037)

7. Amounts due from credit institutions

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, amounts due from 
credit institutions are presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Restricted cash on Kazakhstani  
bank account 4,335,999  1,802,779 

Less: allowance for expected  
credit losses (5,694) — 

Total restricted cash 4,330,305  1,802,779 

As at 31 December 2023, cash in the bank accounts in 
the amount of 4,335,999 thousand tenge provided by 
the Company as collateral for certain loans received by 
the Company from credit institutions (as at 31 December 
2022: 1,802,779 thousand tenge).

The movement of allowance for expected credit losses 
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is 
presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Provision at the beginning of the year — —
Reclassification of provision (5,694) —
Provision at the end of the year (5,694) —

8. Loans to customers

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, loans to customers 
are presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Loans to customers 26,339,315  18,341,789 
Less: allowance for expected  
credit losses (1,326,403)  (782,951)

Total loans to customers 25,012,912  17,558,838 

The analysis of loans by products is presented below:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Individual loans 24,915,249  16,442,825 
Group loans 1,424,066  1,898,964 
Total loans to customers 26,339,315  18,341,789 

The group loans are unsecured loans granted to groups 
of borrowers, who sign loan agreements with joint obliga-
tion to repay their loans. 

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, accrued interest on 
loans to customers amounted to 617,527 thousand tenge 
and 402,414 thousand tenge, respectively.

The analysis of loans in terms of collateral received is 
presented below:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Unsecured loans 25,252,883  17,120,008 
Loans, secured with real estate 811,730  982,145 
Loans, secured with movable property 274,702  239,636 
Total loans to customers 26,339,315  18,341,789 

To reduce its credit risk the Company actively uses 
collateral, represented by vehicles and residential 
properties as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 in the total 
amount of 2,364,388 thousand tenge and 2,726,910 
thousand tenge, respectively.
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An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and 
corresponding ECL allowance in relation to individual loans 
during the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

In thousands of tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Individual loans
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 15,628,489 346,302 468,034 16,442,825
New assets originated 27,526,985 — — 27,526,985
Assets repaid (19,043,462) (78,284) (16,454) (19,138,200)
Net change in accrued interest 173,155 8,330 40,249 221,734
Transfers to stage 1 1,130 (863) (267) — 
Transfers to stage 2 (406,475) 406,475 — — 
Transfers to stage 3 (476,598) (147,478) 624,076 — 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition (1,812) (3,280) (9,462) (14,554)

Recoveries — — 11,719 11,719
Amounts written off — — (135,260) (135,260)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 23,401,412 531,202 982,635 24,915,249

In thousands of tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Individual loans
Allowance for ECL as at 1 January 2023 (190,272) (86,222) (322,366) (598,860)
New assets originated (258,313) — — (258,313)
Assets repaid 214,912 21,623 10,096 246,631
Transfers to stage 1 (10) 9 1 — 
Transfers to stage 2 122,807 (122,807) — — 
Transfers to stage 3 5,100 103,761 (108,861) — 
Impact on ECL of exposures transferred between stages 127,897 (19,037) (108,860) — 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations (206,319) (67,015) (372,668) (646,002)
Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition 20 906 5,806 6,732

Recoveries — — (11,719) (11,719)
Amounts written off — — 135,260 135,260
Allowance for ECL as at 31 December 2023 (312,075) (149,745) (664,451) (1,126,271)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and 
corresponding ECL allowance in relation to group loans 
during the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

In thousands of tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Group loans
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2023 1,704,804 36,260 157,900 1,898,964
New assets originated 1,290,631 — — 1,290,631
Assets repaid (1,702,376) (8,888) (34,729) (1,745,993)
Net change in accrued interest (7,860) 794 445 (6,621)
Transfers to stage 2 (29,117) 29,117 — — 
Transfers to stage 3 (71,153) (16,831) 87,984 — 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition (100) (83) (129) (312)

Recoveries — — 17,554 17,554
Amounts written off — — (30,157) (30,157)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 1,184,829 40,369 198,868 1,424,066

In thousands of tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Group loans
Allowance for ECL as at 1 January 2023 (28,582) (11,357) (144,152) (184,091)
New assets originated (17,345) — — (17,345)
Assets repaid 30,001 2,573 22,657 55,231
Transfers to stage 2 8,285 (8,285) — — 
Transfers to stage 3 1,053 14,593 (15,646) — 
Impact on ECL of exposures transferred between stages 9,338 6,308 (15,646) — 
Сhanges to models and inputs used for ECL calculations (14,745) (8,562) (43,333) (66,640)
Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition 2 24 84 110

Recoveries — — (17,554) (17,554)
Amounts written off — — 30,157 30,157
Allowance for ECL as at 31 December 2023 (21,331) (11,014) (167,787) (200,132)
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An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and 
corresponding ECL allowance in relation to individual loans 
during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

In thousands of tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Individual loans
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022  10,061,938  118,912  196,893  10,377,743 
New assets originated  28,638,330 — —  28,638,330 
Assets repaid  (22,622,781)  (29,586)  (11,852)  (22,664,219)
Net change in accrued interest  126,091  14,121  27,401  167,613 
Transfers to stage 1  450  (450) — — 
Transfers to stage 2  (271,317)  271,317 — — 
Transfers to stage 3  (301,163)  (23,841)  325,004 — 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition  (3,059)  (4,171) —  (7,230)

Recoveries — —  7,299  7,299 
Amounts written off — —  (76,711)  (76,711)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  15,628,489  346,302  468,034  16,442,825 

In thousands of tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Individual loans
Allowance for ECL as at 1 January 2022  (38,271)  (38,968)  (130,030)  (207,269)
New assets originated (154,866) — — (154,866)
Assets repaid  227,190  7,594  7,639  242,423 
Transfers to stage 1  (4)  4 — — 
Transfers to stage 2  74,991  (74,991) — — 
Transfers to stage 3 2,891  21,000 (23,891) — 
Impact on ECL of exposures transferred between stages 77,878 (53,987) (23,891) — 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations (302,251) (2,328) (245,496) (550,075)
Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition  48  1,467 —  1,515 

Recoveries — —  (7,299)  (7,299)
Amounts written off — —  76,711  76,711 
Allowance for ECL as at 31 December 2022  (190,272)  (86,222)  (322,366)  (598,860)

An analysis of changes in the gross carrying value and 
corresponding ECL allowance in relation to group loans 
during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

In thousands of tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Group loans
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2022  2,049,650  17,390  137,961  2,205,001 
New assets originated  2,724,499 — —  2,724,499 
Assets repaid  (2,985,094)  (3,522)  (41,215)  (3,029,831)
Net change in accrued interest  (606)  (893)  (695)  (2,194)
Transfers to stage 2  (30,749)  30,749 — — 
Transfers to stage 3  (52,896)  (7,350)  60,246 — 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition —  (114) —  (114)

Recoveries — —  4,473  4,473 
Amounts written off — —  (2,870)  (2,870)
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2022  1,704,804  36,260  157,900  1,898,964 

In thousands of tenge Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Group loans
Allowance for ECL as at 1 January 2022  (15,837)  (8,818)  (111,488)  (136,143)
New assets originated (23,665) — —  (23,665)
Assets repaid  46,980  1,239  21,336  69,555 
Transfers to stage 2  10,152  (10,152) — — 
Transfers to stage 3 725  7,508 (8,233) — 
Impact on ECL of exposures transferred between stages 10,877 (2,644) (8,233) — 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL calculations (46,937) (1,174) (44,164) (92,275)
Changes to contractual cash flows due to modifications not 
resulting in derecognition —  40 —  40

Recoveries — —  (4,473)  (4,473)
Amounts written off — —  2,870  2,870 
Allowance for ECL as at 31 December 2022  (28,582)  (11,357)  (144,152)  (184,091)
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Modified and restructured loans
The Company derecognises a financial asset, such as 
a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions 
have been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, 
it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised 
as a derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an 
impairment loss has not already been recorded. The 
newly recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL 
measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed 
to be POCI.

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are 
substantially different, the modification does not result in 
derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows dis-
counted at the original effective interest rate, the Compa-
ny records a modification gain or loss, to the extent that 
an impairment loss has not already been recorded.

During 2023, the Company has modified the terms and 
conditions of certain loans, including introduction of pay-
ment holidays. The Company considered these modifi-
cations to be non-substantial. As a result, the Company 
recognised loss on modification of loans to customers, 
not resulting in derecognition in the amount of 14,866 
thousand tenge, accounted within interest revenue on 
loans to customers of the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.

2023 2022
Loans to customers modified 
during the period
Amortised cost before modification 72,631  35,044 
Net losses on modification of loans to 
customers not resulting in derecognition 14,866  7,344 

Collateral and other credit enhancements
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an 
assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guide-
lines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types 
of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral received and their collateral 
value are listed below:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Guarantees 21,767,106 16,049,714
Real estate 1,865,547 2,501,169
Vehicles 455,945 225,423
Inventory 42,896 42,896
Total 24,131,494 18,819,202

Recoverability of loans mainly depends on creditwor-
thiness of the borrower rather than on collateral. The 
Company’s policy provides for foreclosure by selling the 
collateral in exceptional cases. This is supported by pre-
vious experience of obtaining and selling the collateral in 
the event of the borrower’s inability to meet its obliga-
tions to the Company.

Concentration of loans to customers
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company has 
no borrowers or groups of interrelated borrowers whose 
loan balances exceed 10% of the Company’s equity. Ac-
cording to the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
the maximum amount of a microloan to a single borrower 
equals to 36,637 thousand tenge as at 31 December 2023 
(as at 31 December 2022: 53,588 thousand tenge).

9. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss are presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Debt instruments 
Eurobonds of Ministry of Finance of Republic of Kazakhstan 1,450,768  2,037,242 
Total financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 1,450,768  2,037,242 

10. Property and equipment 

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 property and equip-
ment are presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
Computer 
hardware Vehicles

Office furniture 
and equipment Total

Historical cost:
1 January 2022  97,538  14,522  120,229  232,289 
Additions  25,063 —  24,005  49,068 
Disposals  (1,961) —  (13,373)  (15,334)
31 December 2022  120,640  14,522  130,861  266,023 
Additions 78,603 19,500 67,844 165,947
Disposals (14,384) (9,692) (13,922) (37,998)
31 December 2023 184,859 24,330 184,783 393,972
Accumulated depreciation:
1 January 2022  (33,222)  (5,158)  (57,001)  (95,381)
Amortisation charge  (10,035)  (1,935)  (13,869)  (25,839)
Disposals  1,505 —  12,725  14,230 
31 December 2022  (41,752)  (7,093)  (58,145)  (106,990)
Amortisation charge (15,731) (2,020) (17,749) (35,500)
Disposals 9,030 3,796 11,851 24,677
31 December 2023 (48,453) (5,317) (64,043) (117,813)
Net book value:
31 December 2022  78,888  7,429  72,716  159,033 
31 December 2023 136,406 19,013 120,740 276,159

As at 31 December 2023, financial 
instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss in the amount of 1,130,007 
thousand tenge were pledged as 
collateral for loans received under 
repurchase agreements (as at 31 
December 2022: 1,959,609 thousand 
tenge) (Note	17).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, 
property and equipment were not 
pledged as collateral under the 
obligations of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023 the fully 
depreciated property and equip-
ment amounted to 33,535 thou-
sand tenge (31 December 2022: 
30,486 thousand tenge).
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12. Intangible assets

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 intangi-
ble assets are presented as follows:

In thousands 
of tenge

License 
agreements Software

Construction 
in progress Other Total

Historical cost:
1 January 2022  2,671  123,187  41,895  9,991  177,744 
Additions  2,581  4,863  4,564  2,000  14,008 
Disposals —  (260) —  (2,303)  (2,563)
Transfers —  46,459  (46,459) — —
31 December 2022  5,252  174,249 —  9,688  189,189 
Additions 178,386 3,987 — 349 182,722
Disposals (2,581) (3,761) — (228) (6,570)
31 December 2023 181,057 174,475 — 9,809 365,341
Accumulated depreciation:
1 January 2022  (1,323)  (38,955) —  (5,965)  (46,243)
Amortisation charge  (697)  (17,685) —  (798)  (19,180)
Disposals —  260 —  2,303  2,563 
31 December 2022  (2,020)  (56,380) —  (4,460)  (62,860)
Amortisation charge (17,057) (18,770) — (1,243) (37,070)
Disposals 2,581 3,748 — 217 6,546
31 December 2023 (16,496) (71,402) — (5,486) (93,384)
Net book value:
31 December 2022  3,232  117,869 —  5,228  126,329 
31 December 2023 164,561 103,073 — 4,323 271,957

As at 31 December 2023 the fully depreciat-
ed intangible assets amounted nil tenge (as 
at 31 December 2022: 647 thousand tenge).

11. Lease

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the 
movements in right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities are as follows:
In thousands
of tenge

Right-of-
use assets

Lease 
liabilities

As at 1 January 2022  75,625  84,927 
Additions  65,878  65,878 
Modification  30,801  30,801 
Depreciation expense  (94,288) —
Interest expense —  17,895 
Payments — (110,416)
As at 31 December 2022  78,016  89,085 
Additions 292,078 292,078
Modification (112,065) (113,159)
Depreciation expense (131,670) —
Interest expense — 27,315
Payments — (160,928)
As at 31 December 2023 126,359 134,391

Right-of-use assets are represented by the 
Company’s right to use premises under 
lease agreements. The Company rec-
ognised rent expense from short-term leases 
of 35,537 thousand tenge for the year ended 
31 December 2023 (in 2022: 16,479 thou-
sand tenge) (Note	22).

13. Other assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 other assets are 
presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Accounts receivable 36,116  1,824 
Total other financial assets 36,116  1,824 
Advances paid 53,948  48,162 
Inventories 16,811  2,811 
Prepaid expenses 2,468  9,552 
Prepaid taxes other than  
corporate income tax 205  56 

Other 5,258  1,095 
Total other non-financial assets 78,690  61,676 
Total other assets 114,806  63,500 

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 other liabilities are 
presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 

2023
31 Dec. 

2022
Payables to suppliers 12,461  18,200 
Payables to employees —  452 
Total other financial liabilities 12,461  18,652 
Taxes payable other than  
corporate income tax 139,462  42,310 

Accrued expenses on unused vacations 69,829  58,203 
Other payables 21,632  15,603 
Total other non-financial liabilities 230,923  116,116 
Total other liabilities 243,384  134,768 

14. Charter capital

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022 the Company’s paid 
and outstanding charter capital was equal to 553,797 
thousand tenge.

In 2023, the Company declared and paid dividends in 
the amount of 189,643 thousand tenge.
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15. Amounts due to credit institutions

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the amounts due to credit institu-
tions are presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec.

2023
31 Dec.

2022
Loans from investment funds 21,899,775  18,733,324 
Loans from banks 3,891,000  1,605,972 
Total 25,790,775  20,339,296 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had borrowings from 15 invest-
ment funds (as at 31 December 2022: from 17 investment funds).

Covenants
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company has a number of 
financial and non-financial credit exposures. Management believes 
that the Company complied with all the requirements of financial 
covenants under agreements with credit institutions.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Company’s liabilities arising 
from financing activities, including both cash and non–cash changes. 
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Company’s 
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

In thousands 
of tenge

1 Jan. 
2023

Receipt of 
loans

Repayment of 
principal

Interest 
repayment

Interest 
accrual

Effect of 
exchange rate Other

31 Dec.
2023

Amounts due to 
credit institutions 20,339,296 13,347,408 (8,134,398) (3,971,677) 4,237,363 4,636 (31,853) 25,790,775

Total 20,339,296 13,347,408 (8,134,398) (3,971,677) 4,237,363 4,636 (31,853) 25,790,775

In thousands 
of tenge

1 Jan. 
2022

Receipt of 
loans

Repayment of 
principal

Interest 
repayment

Interest 
accrual

Effect of 
exchange rate Other

31 Dec.
2022

Amounts due to 
credit institutions  11,235,834  13,322,674  (4,665,774)  (2,294,268)  2,545,615  214,749 (19,534)  20,339,296 

Total  11,235,834  13,322,674  (4,665,774)  (2,294,268) 2,545,615  214,749 (19,534)  20,339,296 

16. Subordinated debt

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, subordinated debt is 
presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec.

2023
31 Dec.

2022
Subordinated debt 1,405,534  707,330 
Total 1,405,534  707,330 

On 21 December 2022, the Company entered into a 
subordinated loan agreement with Symbiotics Asset 
Management S.A. in the amount of 702,840 thousand 
tenge, with an interest rate of 23% per annum and matu-
rity date in December 2029. On 30 November 2023, the 
Company entered into a subordinated loan agreement 
with Triple Jump Financial Inclusion Resilience Fund 
B.V. in the amount of 688,125 thousand tenge, with an 
interest rate of 21.5% per annum and maturity date in 
January 2029.

17. Repurchase agreements

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, repurchase agree-
ments are presented as follows:
In thousands of 
tenge

Maturity 
date

Interest 
rate, %

31 Dec.
2023

31 Dec.
2022

Repurchase 
agreements

3 Jan. 
2024 14.95 1,153,482  1,956,510 

Total 1,153,482  1,956,510 

Collateral provided as security for liabilities
As at 31 December 2023, loans from repurchase agree-
ments were collateralised by financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss with a fair value of 1,130,007 
thousand tenge (as at 31 December 2022: 1,959,609 
thousand tenge) (Note	9).
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Movements in deferred corporate income tax liabilities 
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as 
follows:

In thousands of tenge
1 Jan.

2022

Changes, recognized 
in the statement 

of profit and loss 
31 Dec. 

2022

Changes, recognized 
in the statement

of profit and loss 
31 Dec. 

2023
Deferred income tax assets   
Accrued expenses on unused vacations  9,691  1,950  11,641 2,325 13,966
Lease liabilities  16,985  832  17,817 9,061 26,878
Other liabilities  875  445  1,320 887 2,207
Amounts due to credit institutions  2,813  (2,813)  — — —
Total deferred income tax assets  30,364  414  30,778 12,273 43,051

Deferred income tax liabilities
Property and equipment and intangible assets  (20,836)  (2,605)  (23,441) (10,944) (34,385)
Right-of-use assets  (15,125)  (478)  (15,603) (9,669) (25,272)
Total deferred income tax liabilities  (35,961)  (3,083)  (39,044) (20,613) (59,657)
Total deferred income tax liabilities, net  (5,597)  (2,669)  (8,266) (8,340) (16,606)

18. Taxation

Corporate income tax expense for the years 2023 and 
2022 are presented as follows:
In thousands of tenge 2023 2022
Current corporate income tax expense 191,522  169,840
Deferred corporate income tax expense 8,340  2,669
Total income tax expense 199,862  172,509

A reconciliation of the theoretical corporate income 
tax expense (CIT) applicable to profit before tax at the 
effective CIT rate with the actual corporate income tax 

expense for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 
2022 are presented as follows:
In thousands of tenge 2023 2022
Profit before corporate income tax 
expense 1,037,116 804,643

Current tax rate 20% 20%
Theoretical corporate income tax 
amount (207,423) (160,929)

Tax effect of permanent differences:
Non-taxable income/ (non-deductible 
expenses) 7,561 (11,580)

Total corporate income tax expense (199,862) (172,509)

19. Net interest income

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, net interest 
income is presented as follows:
In thousands of tenge 2023 2022
Interest income comprises:
Interest income on financial assets recorded at amortized cost:
Loans to customers 9,072,028  6,333,303 
Interest income on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 60,617  99,936 
Interest income from reverse repo 39,559  27,864 
Interest income from short-term deposits 94,715  2,610 
Total interest income 9,266,919  6,463,713 
Interest expense comprises:
Interest on financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost:
Amounts due to credit institutions (4,237,363)  (2,545,615)
Interest expense on repurchase agreements (265,004)  (257,452)
Interest expense on lease (Note 11) (27,315)  (17,895)
Subordinated debt (12,384) (4,490)
Total interest expenses (4,542,066)  (2,825,452)
Net interest income 4,724,853  3,638,261 

20. Expected credit losses (expense) / recovery

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, expected 
credit loss (expenses)/recovery are as follows:
In thousands of tenge Notes 2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents 6 (2,592) — — (2,592)
Loans to customers 8 (251,787) (50,451) (377,358) (679,596)
Total recovery/ (expenses) on 
expected credit losses (254,379) (50,451) (377,358) (682,188)

In thousands of tenge Notes 2022
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents 6  (3,275) — —  (3,275)
Loans to customers 8 (253,501)  6,838 (260,685)  (507,348)
Total recovery/ (expenses) on 
expected credit losses (256,776) 6,838 (260,685)  (510,623)
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23. Commitments and contingencies

Operating Environment 
Emerging markets such as Kazakhstan are subject to 
different risks than more developed markets, including 
economic, political and social, and legal and legislative 
risks. Laws and regulations affecting businesses in 
Kazakhstan continue to change rapidly, tax and regula-
tory frameworks are subject to varying interpretations. 
The future economic direction of Kazakhstan is heavily 
influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted 
by the government, together with developments in the 
legal, regulatory, and political environment. Because 
Kazakhstan produces and exports large volumes of oil 
and gas, its economy is particularly sensitive to the price 
of oil and gas on the world market.

The management of the Company is monitoring develop-
ments in the current environment and taking measures it 
considered necessary in order to support the sustainabil-
ity and development of the Company’s business in the 
foreseeable future. However, the impact of further eco-
nomic developments on future operations and financial 
position of the Company is difficult to estimate.

Claims and litigations
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is 
subject to legal actions and complaints. Management be-
lieves that the ultimate liability, if any, arising from such 
actions or complaints will not have a material adverse 
effect on the financial condition or the results of future 
operations of the Company.

The Company assesses the likelihood of material liabil-
ities arising from individual circumstances and makes 
provision in its financial statements only where it is prob-
able that events giving rise to the liability will occur and 
the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. 
Management is of opinion that no material losses will be 
incurred and accordingly no provision has been made in 
these financial statements.

21. Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 
at fair value through profit or loss

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, net 
gain/ (loss) on financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss is presented as follows:
In thousands of tenge 2023 2022
Revaluation of financial instruments (14,206)  (141,506)
Capital gains from the sale of financial 
instruments 26,430  34,840 

Total 12,224  (106,666)

22. Operating expenses

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, oper-
ating expenses are presented as follows:
In thousands of tenge 2023 2022
Salaries, bonuses and related taxes 1,925,522  1,440,515 
Depreciation and amortisation 204,240  139,307 
Professional services 163,646  153,349 
Transportation 143,489  105,887 
Business trip and representative 
expenses 90,643  58,007 

Bank fees 75,282  50,124 
Office supplies 38,729  31,116 
Repair and maintenance 37,314  15,096 
Advertising and marketing 36,868  23,149 
Taxes other than income tax 35,557  3,187 
Current rent 35,537  16,479 
Communication and information 
services 26,419  21,224 

Training of personnel 14,481  2,329 
Database maintenance services 9,235  1,426 
Other 111,999  111,918 
Total 2,948,961  2,173,113 

Environmental matters
Management believes that the Company is in compli-
ance with the environmental requirements of Kazakhstan 
legislation and has no significant liabilities in this regard. 
The Company did not recognise provisions for possible 
losses in the financial statements.

Taxation
The Company believes that it has paid or accrued all tax-
es that are applicable. Where legislation concerning the 
provision of taxes is unclear, the Company has accrued 
tax liabilities based on management’s best estimate. 
The Company’s policy is to recognize provisions in the 
accounting period in which a loss is deemed probable 
and the amount is reasonably determinable. As at 31 De-
cember 2023, management believes that its interpreta-
tion of the relevant legislation is appropriate and that the 
Company’s tax, currency and custom positions including 
questions on transfer pricing, will be sustained.

Because of the uncertainties associated with the Ka-
zakhstan tax system, the ultimate amount of taxes, pen-
alties and interest, if any, as a result of past transactions, 
may be in excess of the amount expensed to date and 
accrued at 31 December 2023. Although such amounts 
are possible and may be material, it is the opinion of the 
Company’s management that these amounts are either 
not probable, not reasonably determinable, or both.

Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no capital 
commitments.

Investment related commitments
As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no invest-
ment contracts.

24. Fair value of financial instruments

IFRS defines fair value as the price that would be re-
ceived to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

The Company uses a hierarchical structure of valuation 
techniques to determine and disclose the fair value of 
financial instruments:

• Level 1: quoted market price (unadjusted) in an 
active market for an identical instrument;

• Level 2: inputs other than quotes prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable either direct-ly 
(i.e, as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from 
prices). This category includes instruments val-
ued using: quoted market prices in active markets 
for similar instruments; quoted prices for simi-lar 
instruments in markets that are considered less 
than active; or other valuation techniques where all 
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observ-
able from market data;

• Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category 
includes all instruments where the valuation technique 
includes inputs not based on observable data and 
the unobservable inputs have a sig-nificant effect on 
the instrument’s valuation. This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices 
for similar instruments where significant unobservable 
adjustments or as-sumptions are required to reflect 
differences between the instruments.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that 
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but 
fair value disclosures are required) 
Except some financial instruments detailed in the follow-
ing table, the management of the Company considers 
that the carrying amounts of financial assets and finan-
cial liabilities, which are not measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis in the financial statements approximate 
their fair values.
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31 December 2023 31 December 2022

In thousands of tenge
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Unrecognised 
gain/ (loss)

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Unrecognised 
gain/ (loss)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,187,053 1,187,053 —  4,803,025  4,803,025 —
Amounts due from credit institutions 4,330,305 4,330,305 —  1,802,779  1,802,779 —
Loans to customers 25,012,912 25,171,823 158,911  17,558,838  17,639,674  80,836 
Other financial assets 36,116 36,116 —  1,824  1,824 —
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions 25,790,775 26,119,281 (328,506)  20,339,296  20,578,132  (238,836)
Subordinated debt 1,405,534 1,454,721 (49,187)  707,330  739,181  (31,851)
Lease liabilities 134,391 134,391 —  89,085  89,085 — 
Repurchase agreements 1,153,482 1,130,007 23,475  1,956,510  1,959,609  (3,099)
Other financial liabilities 12,461 12,461 —  18,652  18,652 — 

The table below provides an analysis of financial instru-
ments presented in the financial statements at fair value, 
by levels of the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 
2023 and 2022:

In thousands of tenge
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023

Date of measurement Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets at fair value
Financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss 31.12.2023 1,450,768 — — 1,450,768

Assets whose fair value is disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents 31.12.2023 1,187,053 — — 1,187,053
Amounts due from credit institutions 31.12.2023 — 4,330,305 — 4,330,305
Loans to customers 31.12.2023 — 25,171,823 — 25,171,823
Other financial assets 31.12.2023 — — 36,116 36,116
Total fair value 2,637,821 29,502,128 36,116 32,176,065

Liability whose fair value is disclosed
Amounts due to credit institutions 31.12.2023 — 26,119,281 — 26,119,281
Subordinated debt 31.12.2023 — 1,454,721 — 1,454,721
Lease liabilities 31.12.2023 — — 134,391 134,391
Repurchase agreements 31.12.2023 — 1,130,007 — 1,130,007
Other financial liabilities 31.12.2023 — — 12,461 12,461
Total fair value — 28,704,009 146,852 28,850,861
Fair value, net 2,637,821 798,119 (110,736) 3,325,204

In thousands of tenge
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2022

Date of measurement Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets at fair value
Financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss 31.12.2022  2,037,242 — —   2,037,242 

Assets whose fair value is disclosed
Cash and cash equivalents 31.12.2022  4,803,025 — —  4,803,025 
Amounts due from credit institutions 31.12.2022 —  1,802,779 —  1,802,779 
Loans to customers 31.12.2022 —  17,639,674 —  17,639,674 
Other financial assets 31.12.2022 — —  1,824  1,824 
Total assets fair value  6,840,267  19,442,453  1,824  26,284,544 

Liability whose fair value is disclosed
Amounts due to credit institutions 31.12.2022 —  20,578,132 —  20,578,132 
Subordinated debt 31.12.2022 —  739,181 —  739,181 
Lease liabilities 31.12.2022 — —  89,085  89,085 
Repurchase agreements 31.12.2022 —  1,959,609 —  1,959,609 
Other financial liabilities 31.12.2022 — —  18,652  18,652 
Total liabilities fair value —   23,276,922  107,737  23,384,659 
Fair value, net  6,840,267  (3,834,469)  (105,913)  2,899,885 

As at 31 December 2023, there were no movement 
between levels in the fair value hierarchy.
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25. Risk management

Introduction
The Company manages risks through a process of ongo-
ing identification, measurement and monitoring, setting 
risk limits and other measures of internal controls. The 
process of risk management is critical to the Company’s 
continuing profitability and each individual within the 
Company is accountable for the risk exposures relating 
to his or her responsibilities. The Company is exposed to 
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. It is also subject 
to operating risks.

The independent risk control process does not include 
business risks such as changes in the environment, 
technology and industry. They are monitored through the 
Company’s strategic planning process.

Risk management structure
The Company’s risk management policies aim to identify, 
analyse and manage the risks faced by the Company, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to contin-
uously monitor risk levels and adherence to limits. Risk 
management policies and procedures are reviewed reg-
ularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products 
and services offered and emerging best practice.

Supervisory Board
Supervisory Board of the Company has overall re-
sponsibility for the oversight of the risk management 
framework, overseeing the management of key risks and 
reviewing its risk management policies and procedures 
as well as approving significantly large exposures.

Executive management
The responsibility of the Executive Management is to 
monitor the risk management process in the Company. 
Executive management ensures that the Company 
operates within the established risk limits. In turn, the 
relevant departments directly manage certain types of 
risks, and together with a lawyer, they constantly mon-

itor compliance with the requirements of the current 
legislation.

Risk Committee
The Risk Committee has overall responsibility for devel-
oping a risk management strategy and implementing risk 
principles, concepts, policies and limits. It is responsible 
for significant risk management issues and monitors the 
implementation of relevant decisions made in relation to 
risks.

Audit Committee 
The main purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist 
the effective implementation of control functions over the 
financial and economic activities of the Company by the 
Supervisory Board, evaluate the adequacy of the internal 
control system, and monitor the effectiveness of internal 
and external audit activities.

Risk management
The Risk Management Unit is responsible for implement-
ing and implementing risk management procedures to 
ensure an independent control process.

Internal audit
The Company’s risk management processes are audited 
annually by the Internal Audit Department, which verifies 
both the adequacy of the procedures and the Company’s 
compliance with these procedures. The Internal Audit 
Department discusses the results of its audits with man-
agement and submits its findings and recommendations 
to the Audit Committee.

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss 
because its clients or counterparties failed to discharge 
their contractual obligations.

Maximum credit risk is limited to carrying amount of 
financial instruments, except for secured loans. All loans 
issued by the company are secured.

Credit quality by types of financial assets 
Financial assets are graded according to the current credit 
rating they have been issued by an international rating agency 
or in accordance with the Company’s internal rating system. 
The highest possible rating is AAA. Investment grade financial 
assets have ratings from BBB to B-.

The financial assets of the Company, including provisions for 
expected credit loss on credit ratings, are presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge BBB BBB- BB+ B+
Credit rating is 

not assigned
31 Dec.

2023
Cash and cash equivalents — 618,166 466,732 4,826 96,598 1,186,322
Amounts due from credit 
institutions — — 4,330,305 — — 4,330,305

Loans to customers — — — — 25,012,912 25,012,912
Financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss 1,450,768 — — — — 1,450,768

Other financial assets — — — — 36,116 36,116
Total 1,450,768 618,166 4,797,037 4,826 25,145,626 32,016,423

In thousands of tenge BBB BBB- BB+ B+
Credit rating is 

not assigned
31 Dec.

2022
Cash and cash equivalents  78,017 1,601,796  2,873,810  1,315  247,922  4,802,860 
Amounts due from credit 
institutions —  —  1,802,779 — —  1,802,779 

Loans to customers — — — —  17,558,838  17,558,838 
Financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss  2,037,242 — — — —   2,037,242 

Other financial assets —  — — —  1,824  1,824 
Total  2,115,259  1,601,796  4,676,589  1,315  17,808,584  26,203,543 

It is the Company’s policy to maintain accurate and consis-
tent risk ratings across the credit portfolio. This facilitates 
focused management of the applicable risks and the compar-
ison of credit exposures across all lines of products. The rat-
ing system is supported by a variety of financial analytics, 
combined with processed market information to provide 
the main inputs for the measurement of counterparty risk. 
All internal risk ratings are tailored to the various catego-
ries and are derived in accordance with the Company’s 
rating policy. The attributable risk ratings are assessed 
and updated regularly.
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Collateral 
The amount and type of collateral depends on an assessment 
of the credit risk of the counterparty. 

Management is monitoring the market value of collateral, re-
quires additional collateral in accordance with the main agree-
ment and monitors the market value of collateral obtained 
during the review of the availability of provision for impairment.

Impairment assessment 
The Company calculates ECL on a group basis accord-
ing to the migration matrix adjusted for the impact of the 
macroeconomic factors to measure the expected cash 
shortfalls, discounted at the effective interest rate or its ap-
proximate value. A cash shortfall is the difference between 
the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with 
the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to re-
ceive. The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined 
below and the key elements are as follows:

Probability of Default (PD)
The	Probability	of	Default	is an estimate of the 
likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A 
default may only happen at a certain time over the 
assessed period, if the facility has not been previous-
ly derecognised and is still in the portfolio.

Exposure at Default (EAD)
The	Exposure	at	Default	is an estimate of the ex-
posure at a future default date, taking into account 
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting 
date, including repayments of principal and interest, 
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expect-
ed drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued 
interest from missed payments.

Loss Given Default (LGD)
The	Loss	Given	Default is an estimate of the loss aris-
ing in the case where a default occurs at a given time. 
It is based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows due and those that the lender would expect 
to receive, including from the realisation of any collater-
al. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expect-
ed to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected 
credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant 
increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the 
allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss 
(12mECL). The 12mECL is the portion of LTECL that repre-
sent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial 
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the 
reporting date. Both LTECL and 12mECL are calculated on 
either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on 
the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

The Company has developed a policy to assess at the end 
of each reporting period whether there has been a signif-
icant increase in the credit risk of a financial instrument 
since initial recognition, by taking into account changes 
in the risk of default over the remaining life of the financial 
instrument. Based on the process described above, the 
Company combines its loans into the following groups:
Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Com-

pany recognises an allowance based on 
12mECL. Stage 1 loans also include facilities 
where the credit risk has improved and the 
loan has been reclassified from Stage 2.

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase 
in credit risk since origination, the Company 
records an allowance for the LTECL. Stage 2 
loans also include facilities, where the credit 
risk has improved and the loan has been 
reclassified from Stage 3.

Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired. The Com-
pany records an allowance for the LTECL.

PICO: Purchased or originated credit impaired 
(POCI) assets are financial assets that are 
credit impaired on initial recognition. POCI as-
sets are recorded at fair value at original rec-
ognition and interest revenue is subsequently 
recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. 
ECL are only recognised or released to the 
extent that there is a subsequent change in 
the lifetime expected credit losses.

Unimpaired financial assets Impaired financial assets

31 Dec.
2023
TotalIn thousands of tenge

Gross carrying 
amount of assets

Amount of 
allowance for 

expected credit 
losses

Gross carrying 
amount of assets

Amount of 
allowance for 

expected credit 
losses

Cash and cash equivalents 1,187,988 (935) — — 1,187,053
Amounts due from credit institutions 4,335,999 (5,694) — — 4,330,305
Loans to customers 25,157,812 (494,165) 1,181,503 (832,238) 25,012,912
Financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss  1,450,768 — — — 1,450,768

Other financial assets  36,116 — — — 36,116

31 Dec. 2022
Total

Cash and cash equivalents  4,807,062  (4,037) — —  4,803,025 
Amounts due from credit institutions  1,802,779 — —  —  1,802,779 
Loans to customers 17,715,855 (316,433) 625,934 (466,518)  17,558,838 
Financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss  2,037,242 — — —  2,037,242 

Other financial assets  1,824 — — —  1,824 

Definition of default and cure
The Company considers a financial instrument defaulted 
and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL calcula-
tions in all cases when the borrower becomes 90 days 
past due on its contractual payments.

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a cus-
tomer is in default, the Company also considers a variety 
of instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When 
such events occur, the Company carefully considers 
whether the event should result in treating the customer 
as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL 
calculations or whether Stage 2 is appropriate. Such 
events include:

• The Company has information about force ma-
jeure, as well as other circumstances that caused 
the borrower significant material damage or do not 
allow the borrower to continue commercial or em-
ployment activities, including information about the 
deprivation/suspension of a license for activities, as 

well as information about the absence of employ-
ment or commercial activities of the borrower;

• A high probability of bankruptcy or another kind of 
financial reorganization, as well as involve-ment in 
the court proceedings of the borrower, which may 
worsen its financial condition;

• The borrower is deceased.

By decision of the Сredit Сommittee, the Company is enti-
tled to use additional risk factors as signs of impairment:

• Lack of communication with the borrower;
• Court proceedings on claims of third parties, where 

the borrower acts as a defendant;
• Loss of collateral for a loan or the absence of duly 

executed collateral.

It is the Company’s policy to consider a financial instru-
ment as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 
when none of the default criteria have been present for 
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at least three consecutive payments according to the last 
schedule approved in accordance with the restructuring. 
The decision whether to classify an asset as Stage 2 
or Stage 1 once cured depends on the updated credit 
grade, at the time of the cure, and whether this indicates 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk com-
pared to initial recognition.

Treasury
The Company’s treasury comprises transactions with 
financial services institutions, banks, broker-dealers, 
exchanges and clearing-houses. For these relationships, 
the Company’s credit risk department analyses publicly 
available information.

Group and individual loans
The Company’s lending includes secured and unsecured 
loans to individuals. The main indicator for evaluating 
these products is the number of overdue days.

Exposure at default
The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross 
carrying amount of the financial instruments subject to 
the impairment calculation, addressing both the client’s 
ability to increase its exposure while approaching default 
and potential early repayments too. To calculate the EAD 
for a Stage 1 loan, the Company assesses the possible 
default events within 12 months for the calculation of 
the 12mECL. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI financial 
assets, the exposure at default is considered for events 
over the lifetime of the instruments.

Loss given default
LGD levels are assessed for all asset classes of Stage 1, 
2 and 3 and POCI. These LGD levels take into account 
the expected EAD figure compared with the amounts 
that are expected to be recovered or realised, including 
as a result of the sale of collateral.

LGD is estimated on a monthly basis by the Company’s 
Risk Management Department. Credit risk assessment is 

based on the LGD model based on historical information 
on cash recoveries and expectations on recoveries from 
sale of collateral. The value of collateral is estimated by 
adjusting for the liquidity ratio, after which it is discounted 
for a period of 2 years using the initial effective rate.

Significant increase in credit risk
The Company continuously monitors all assets subject to 
ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument or a 
portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, 
the Company assesses whether there has been a signif-
icant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The 
Company deems that the credit risk have increased sig-
nificantly since initial recognition in the following cases: 

• Significant changes in external market credit risk 
indicators for a specific loan or similar loans with 
the same expected maturity;

• Overdue on principal and/or interest for a period 
exceeding 30 calendar days;

• Significant financial difficulties of the borrower;
• Loan restructuring due to financial difficulties during 

the last 12 months;
• The Company has information about force majeure, 

as well as other circumstances that caused the 
borrower significant material damage or do not al-
low it to continue its activities, including information 
about the deprivation/suspension of a license for 
activities, as well as information about the lack of 
employment or commercial activities borrower;

• High probability of bankruptcy or another kind of 
financial reorganization, as well as involve-ment in 
the court proceedings of the borrower, which may 
worsen its financial condition.

Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis
The company calculates an ECL on an individual 
basis for financial instruments that are material and 
for which a significant increase in credit risk or signs 
of impairment has been identified. Financial instru-
ments are material if the amount owed by the borrower 
or a group of related borrowers at the reporting date 

exceeds or is equal to the threshold of 25% of Tier 1 
capital established by the Company.

For all other classes of asset, the Company calculates ECL 
on a collective basis. The Company groups these financial 
assets into homogeneous individual and group loans.

Forward-looking information  
and multiple economic scenarios
In its ECL models, the Company relies on a broad range of 
forward looking information as economic inputs, such as: 

• GDP by production approach;
• Oil production and gas condensates volume;
• Crude oil price, Brent;
• Refinancing rate of the NBRK;
• Inflation rate.

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may 
not always capture all characteristics of the market at the 

date of the financial statements. To reflect this, quali-
tative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made 
as temporary adjustments when such differences are 
significantly material.

The Company obtains the forward-looking information 
from third party sources (external rating agencies, gov-
ernmental bodies e.g. NBRK, and international finan-
cial institutions). Experts of the Company’s Credit Risk 
Department determine the weights attributable to the 
multiple scenarios. 

Geographical concentration
The assets and liabilities management committee con-
trols the risk associated with changes in legislation and 
assesses its impact on the Company. 

The geographic concentration of assets and liabilities 
indicated in the following table:

In thousands of tenge Kazakhstan
OECD 

countries* 
Total as at

31 Dec. 2022 Kazakhstan
OECD 

countries* 
Total as at

31 Dec. 2023
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  4,803,025 —  4,803,025 1,187,053 — 1,187,053
Amounts due from credit 
institutions  1,802,779 —  1,802,779 4,330,305 — 4,330,305

Loans to customers  17,558,838 —  17,558,838 25,012,912 — 25,012,912
Financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss  2,037,242 —  2,037,242 1,450,768 — 1,450,768

Other financial assets  1,824 —  1,824 36,116 — 36,116
Total financial assets  26,203,708 —  26,203,708 32,017,154 — 32,017,154
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to credit 
institutions  1,605,972  18,733,324  20,339,296 3,891,000 21,899,775 25,790,775

Subordinated debt — 707,330  707,330 — 1,405,534 1,405,534
Lease liabilities  89,085 —  89,085 134,391 — 134,391
Repurchase agreements  1,956,510 —  1,956,510 1,153,482 — 1,153,482
Other financial liabilities  15,214  3,438  18,652 12,461 — 12,461
Total financial liabilities  3,666,781  19,444,092  23,110,873 5,191,334 23,305,309 28,496,643

* OECD countries—members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.

64 65



Liquidity risk and funding management 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its payment obliga-
tions when they fall due under normal and unforeseen circumstances. The Manage-
ment controls this risk by means of maturity analysis, determining the Company’s 
strategy for the next financial period. This incorporates an assessment of expected 
cash flows and the availability of high-grade collateral which could be used to secure 
additional funding if required.

In thousands of tenge 
Average 

% rate

Less than
 1 month/

on demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
years

Over  
5 years

31 Dec. 
2023
Total

Interest-bearing financial assets
Short-term bank deposits up to 90 days 1.00% — 507,139 — — — 507,139
Amounts due from credit institutions 0.25% — — — 4,335,999 — 4,335,999
Loans to customers 42.40% 437,377 269,976 5,466,092 18,811,507 27,960 25,012,912
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 5.81% 28,284 — — 1,103,574 318,910 1,450,768
Total interest-bearing financial assets 465,661 777,115 5,466,092 24,251,080 346,870 31,306,818

Non-interest bearing financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents, except for short-term 
deposits up to 90 days 680,849 — — — — 680,849

Other financial assets 36,116 — — — — 36,116
Total non-interest bearing financial assets 716,965 — — — — 716,965
Total financial assets 1,182,626 777,115 5,466,092 24,251,080 346,870 32,023,783

Interest-bearing financial liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions 17.03% — — 102,759 25,688,016 — 25,790,775
Subordinated debt 23.00% — — — — 1,405,534 1,405,534
Lease liabilities 15.00% — — 119,874 14,517 — 134,391
Repurchase agreements 14.95% 1,153,482 — — — — 1,153,482
Total interest-bearing financial liabilities 1,153,482 — 222,633 25,702,533 1,405,534 28,484,182

Non-interest bearing financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities — 12,461 — — — 12,461
Total non-interest bearing financial liabilities — 12,461 — — — 12,461
Total financial liabilities 1,153,482 12,461 222,633 25,702,533 1,405,534 28,496,643

Difference between financial assets and financial liabilities 29,144 764,654 5,243,459 (1,451,453) (1,058,664) 3,527,140
Difference between interest bearing financial assets and 
interest-bearing financial liabilities (687,821) 777,115 5,243,459 (1,451,453) (1,058,664) 2,822,636

In thousands of tenge 
Average 

% rate

Less than
 1 month/

on demand
Less than 
3 months

3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years

Over  
5 years

31 Dec. 
2022
Total

Interest-bearing financial assets
Short-term bank deposits up to 90 days 11.91%  575,313 478 — — —  575,791 
Amounts due from credit institutions 0.25% — — —  1,802,779 —  1,802,779 
Loans to customers 42.93%  266,471  251,084  5,031,393  11,992,384  17,506  17,558,838 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 2.86%  25,050 —  1,462  2,010,730 —  2,037,242 
Total interest-bearing financial assets  866,834  251,562  5,032,855  15,805,893  17,506  21,974,650 

Non–interest bearing financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  4,231,271 — — — —  4,231,271 
Other financial assets  1,824 — — — —  1,824 
Total non-interest bearing financial assets  4,233,095 — — — —  4,233,095 
Total financial assets  5,099,929  251,562  5,032,855  15,805,893  17,506  26,207,745 

Interest-bearing financial liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions 18.27%  4,606  631,705  3,070,329  16,632,656 —  20,339,296 
Subordinated debt 23.00% — — — —  707,330  707,330 
Lease liabilities 15.00% —  —  47,125  41,960 —  89,085 
Repurchase agreements 16.30%  1,956,510 — — — —  1,956,510 
Total interest-bearing financial liabilities  1,961,116  631,705  3,117,454  16,674,616  707,330  23,092,221 

Non-interest bearing financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities  452  18,200 — — —  18,652 
Total non-interest bearing financial liabilities  452  18,200 — — —  18,652 
Total financial liabilities  1,961,568  649,905  3,117,454  16,674,616  707,330  23,110,873 

Difference between financial assets and financial liabilities  3,138,361  (398,343)  1,915,401  (868,723)  (689,824)  3,096,872 
Difference between interest bearing financial assets and 
interest-bearing financial liabilities  (1,094,282)  (380,143)  1,915,401  (868,723)  (689,824)  (1,117,571)
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The table below shows the financial liabilities of the 
Company as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, by ma-
turity based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations.

In thousands of tenge Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years 31 Dec. 2023, Total
Amounts due to credit institutions 1,308,802 4,893,339 24,860,251 31,062,392
Subordinated debt 80,318 241,831 2,865,182 3,187,331
Lease liabilities 25,775 56,252 69,471 151,498
Repurchase agreements 1,157,236 — — 1,157,236
Other financial liabilities — 12,461 — 12,461
Total 2,572,131 5,203,883 27,794,904 35,570,918

In thousands of tenge Less than 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years 31 Dec. 2022, Total
Amounts due to credit institutions  2,497,542  6,912,952  14,950,895  24,361,389 
Subordinated debt —  162,102  1,695,953  1,858,055 
Lease liabilities  24,242  64,436  12,493  101,171 
Repurchase agreements  1,959,994 — —  1,959,994 
Other financial liabilities  452  18,200 —  18,652 
Total  4,482,230  7,157,690  16,659,341  28,299,261 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to 
changes in market variables such as interest rates, 
foreign exchanges and equity prices. The market risk is 
managed and monitored based on sensitivity analysis. 
The Company does not have significant concentration of 
market risk, except for foreign currency concentration. 
The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk as the 
interest rates on financial assets and liabilities are fixed.

The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk as the 
interest rates on financial assets and liabilities are fixed.

Financial assets and liabilities of the Company in terms of 
currency as at 31 December 2023:

In thousands of tenge Tenge US dollar Euro Total
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,090,828 96,037 188 1,187,053
Amounts due from credit institutions — 1,287,970 3,042,335 4,330,305
Loans to customers 25,012,912 — — 25,012,912
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss — 1,450,768 — 1,450,768
Other financial assets 36,116 — — 36,116
Total financial assets 26,139,856 2,834,775 3,042,523 32,017,154
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions 20,438,029 2,676,553 2,676,193 25,790,775
Subordinated debt 1,405,534 — — 1,405,534
Lease liabilities 134,391 — — 134,391
Repurchase agreements 1,153,482 — — 1,153,482
Other financial liabilities 12,461 — — 12,461
Total financial liabilities 23,143,897 2,676,553 2,676,193 28,496,643
Open position 2,995,959 158,222 366,330 3,520,511

Financial assets and liabilities of the Company in terms of 
currency as at 31 December 2022:

In thousands of tenge Tenge US dollar Euro Total
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents  706,263  765,331  3,331,431  4,803,025 
Amounts due from credit institutions —  1,312,383  490,396  1,802,779 
Loans to customers  17,558,838 — —  17,558,838 
Financial instruments at FVTPL —  1,175,289  861,953  2,037,242 
Other financial assets  1,824 — —  1,824 
Total financial assets  18,266,925  3,253,003  4,683,780  26,203,708 
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions  12,763,525  2,814,840  4,760,931  20,339,296 
Subordinated debt  707,330 — —  707,330 
Lease liabilities  89,085 — —  89,085 
Repurchase agreements  1,956,510 — —  1,956,510 
Other financial liabilities  16,894  1,102  656  18,652 
Total financial liabilities  15,533,344  2,815,942  4,761,587  23,110,873 
Open position  2,733,581  437,061  (77,807)  3,092,835 

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign ex-
change rates.

The tables below indicate the currencies to which the 
Company had significant exposure at 31 December 2023 
and 2022, on its non–trading monetary assets and liabil-
ities and its forecasted cash flows. The analysis calcu-
lates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the 
currency rate against the tenge, with all other variables 
held constant on the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income (due to the fair value of currency 
sensitive non–trading monetary assets and liabilities). All 
other variables are held constant.
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Analysis of sensitivity to the foreign exchange market
The effect on equity does not differ from the effect on the 
income statement and other comprehensive income. Neg-
ative amounts in the table reflect a potential net decrease 
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, while positive amounts reflect a potential net 
increase. An equivalent decrease in the exchange rate of 
each of the following currencies against the tenge will have 
the opposite effect on profit before tax.

In thousands 
of tenge 2023 2022

Currency

Change in 
exchange 

rate, %

Effect on profit 
before corporate 

income tax expense

Change in 
exchange 

rate, %

Effect on profit before 
corporate income tax 

expense
US dollar 20% 31,644 20%  87,412 
US dollar –20% (31,644) –20%  (87,412)
Euro 20% 73,266 20%  (15,561)
Euro –20% (73,266) –20%  15,561 

Prepayment risk
Prepayment risk is the risk that the Company will incur a 
financial loss because its customers and counterparties 
repay or request repayment earlier or later than expect-
ed, such as fixed rate mortgages when interest rates fall.

Management of the Company believes that creditors 
will not request early repayment of loans and bor-
rowers will not make earliest repayments, which may 
impact significantly on Company’s net income. This 
assumption is based on historical data from four previ-
ous financial years.

Operational risk 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems 
failure, human error, fraud or external events. When con-
trols fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage 
to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or 
lead to financial loss. The Company cannot expect to 
eliminate all operational risks, but a control framework 
and monitoring and responding to potential risks could 

be effective tools to manage the risks. Control system 
should include effective segregation of duties, access, 
authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff train-
ings and assessment processes, including the use of 
internal audit. Operational Risks Manager and Compli-
ance Officer under Legal Department together with the 
Management Board are responsible for managing of 
operational risks inherent to the Company’s products, 
activities, procedures and systems. Within scope of 

26. Capital management

The Company maintains an active management of 
capital base to cover the risks inherent in the business. 
The Company’s sufficiency of capital is monitored using, 
amongst other measures, norms established by the 
legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

The main object of capital management for Company 
is to provide the Company’s compliance to external 
requirements in terms of capital and support of high 
credit rate and norms of capital sufficiency required for 
its activity. 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it according to changes in economic con-
ditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. 

In accordance with the effective capital requirements, 
set by the NBRK, the Company must maintain capital 
adequacy ratio (k1) not lower than 0.1, maximum risk per 
borrower (k2) not greater than 0.25 and leverage ratio 
(k3) not greater than 10. As at 31 December 2023, the 
capital adequacy ratio exceeds the statutory minimum: 
k1—0.169; k2—0.007; and k3—5.466. 

27. Transactions with related parties

In accordance with IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, 
parties are considered to be related if one party has the 
ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial or op-
erational decisions. In considering each possible related 
party relationship, attention is directed to the substance 
of the relationship, not merely the legal form.

Related parties may enter into transactions which unre-
lated parties might not, and transactions between related 
parties may not be effected on the same terms, condi-
tions and amounts as transactions between unrelated 
parties.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no transac-
tions with related parties.

Compensation to key management personnel
As at 31 December 2023, the key management per-
sonnel consists of the Chairman of the Board, Financial 
Director, Business Development Director, Operations 
Director, Human Resources Director and members of 
the Supervisory Board, total of 9 persons.

Total compensation to key management personnel 
included in Personnel expenses in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income is 143,029 
thousand tenge for the year ended 31 December 2023 
(2022: 115,121 thousand tenge). The remuneration of 
key management personnel includes salaries and other 
short-term payments in accordance with the internal 
regulations of the Company.

intervention, Compliance Officer 
monitors the consistency and effec-
tiveness of the control of the risk of 
non–compliance in the Company.

Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the value of 
a financial instrument can change 
due to changes in market prices, 
whether those changes are caused 
by factors specific to the individu-
al security or its issuer or factors 

affecting all securities traded in the market. The Com-
pany is exposed to price risk due to general and specific 
market fluctuations on its products.

An analysis of the sensitivity of net profit or loss to 
changes in securities prices (based on positions in effect 
as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and a simplified 
scenario of a 1% decrease or increase in prices of all 
securities) can be presented as follows:

In thousands of tenge
31 Dec. 2023 31 Dec. 2022
Profit or loss Profit or loss

1% increase in securities price 14,508  20,372 
1% decrease in securities price (14,508)  (20,372)

70 71



© 2024 MFO “Asian Credit Fund” LLC

60, Auezov str.
050008 Almaty
Republic of Kazakhstan

+7 (727) 250-61-90
info@acfund.kz
www.asiancreditfund.com
www.acfund.kz

   Asian Credit Fund
  asiancreditfund


